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Cancer Research UK undertakes
pioneering, life-saving research
to bring forward the day when
all cancers are cured.
Every two minutes someone is
diagnosed with cancer. With the
help of our supporters we can
accelerate our impact on this
devastating disease.

FinAnCiAL highLighTS
Fundraising income

£460m
Total fundraising income was up 6%
on last year.

Where your money goes

82%

of each £ donated was available to beat cancer.
We invested 18% to raise future funds.
See page 10 for how this measure is calculated.
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Working together to beat cancer
Funded through donations, Cancer Research UK
is the only UK charity fighting every type of cancer.

Thanks to our supporters, we’ve helped double
cancer survival rates in the UK in the last 40 years.

New technologies and the pace of discovery
are leading us rapidly towards precise treatments
that will reduce side effects and help more
people survive.

We have contributed to some of the world’s most
important cancer drugs, including tamoxifen and
Herceptin to treat breast cancer, carboplatin and
cisplatin to treat lung, ovarian and testicular cancers
and temozolomide to treat brain tumours.

Our scientists have led the world in understanding
the inherited risk of breast, prostate and other forms
of cancer.

Thanks to our pioneering work, thousands of
people benefit from modern radiotherapy every
year in the UK.

Our research laid the foundations for the UK’s
national screening programmes for breast,
bowel and cervical cancer.

Together with our supporters we helped secure
smoke-free legislation across the UK and a ban
on sunbeds in England and Wales for under-18s.

4,000
40,000
35,000

We fund over 4,000 scientists, doctors and
nurses across the UK.

Around 40,000 volunteers give up their time
to support our work.

More than 35,000 patients join our clinical
trials each year – helping us to develop new
ways to beat cancer.

Our Institutes
Our Centres
Some of the locations where
we fund research and clinical trials

cruk.org
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chairman’s statement

Research progress in early diagnosis, prevention and treatment
was marked on many fronts: notably a range of studies that explain
why patients respond differently to cancer treatment and changes
in clinical practice for treating a number of cancers following
successful trials funded by the Charity. Several new partnerships
with industry were initiated to develop new treatments. A first joint
symposium with leading oncologists from China and the UK was
held in Beijing to explore potential scope for joint projects in lung
and oesophageal cancers. The world’s first ‘citizen science’ project
in cancer was launched in late 2012. You can read more about
research highlights in this report.
Outreach activity by the Charity continues to inform public policy,
keeping cancer at the top of the national health and science
agenda. The Government committed £300 million additional
funding during the year for science-related investments in UK
universities. This includes significant investment in more precise
radiotherapy treatments and a £100 million pledge to introduce
whole genome sequencing to the NHS, making the UK the first
country to announce such plans.

As a leading cancer research enterprise of international scientific
renown, Cancer Research UK is dedicated to beating all cancers.
Survival rates continue to improve. Nonetheless, cancer remains
a major cause of mortality worldwide, accounting for more than
7.6 million deaths each year. It is estimated that by 2030 there
will be over 22 million new cases diagnosed annually.
It is thanks to the generosity of the British public that fundraising
income increased by more than 6% this year. Fundraising also
benefitted from the success of our first telethon, Stand Up To
Cancer, as well as significant growth in corporate partnerships.
This enabled a similar increase in research activity. With an increase
in reserves and prudent financial stewardship, year-end liquidity
was little changed on the prior year.
Towards the end of 2012, a brand refreshment campaign was
launched to reinforce the wide public support the Charity enjoys.
This was well received, and you can see the new logo displayed
in this report.
The capital appeal for The Francis Crick Institute – the worldleading biomedical research institute with construction well
advanced at St Pancras, London – has raised over £32 million in
cash and pledges. With a third of the £100 million target secured,
we are confident that the campaign board of 16 distinguished
philanthropists will achieve its goal. Building completion remains
on schedule for 2015.

During the year we welcomed Professor Peter Selby CBE as a
Trustee; he is a consultant physician at the St James Institute of
Oncology and Professor of Cancer Medicine at the University of
Leeds. In late 2012 Dr Philip Campbell retired after nine years as
a Trustee; I should like to extend our warmest appreciation for his
wise counsel and valuable contribution to the Charity’s progress.
After the year closed, James Crosby resigned as a Trustee, having
stepped aside as Treasurer in December 2012; I should like to thank
him for his fulsome and active contribution over the last five years.
On behalf of the many scientists and clinicians funded by Cancer
Research UK and the many cancer patients who benefit from their
work, I should like to express enormous gratitude to all donors and
volunteers who give so enthusiastically to the Charity. We do not
take this generosity for granted. Although huge progress has been
made against cancer, the need for research funding is as great as
ever. For every two projects funded, a third project of equal import
remains on hold.
With little improvement expected in the general economic
outlook, I am greatly encouraged by the unstinting commitment
of Cancer Research UK’s leadership, the drive and professionalism
of the executive team and by the innovative capacity of the
organisation and its partners.
Working with many of the best researchers and clinicians
internationally, the Charity is determined to take full advantage
of today’s exciting developments in science. The opportunities
are immense.

Michael Pragnell
Chairman
4 June 2013
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chief executive’s statement

Understanding risks and causes
We announced the results of a massive global study looking at
inherited risk of cancer, involving 1,000 scientists and 200,000
individuals. This research identified over 80 gene variants that
increase the risk of prostate, breast or ovarian cancer, enabling us
to design more targeted screening and prevention programmes.
We also reported on research illuminating the heterogeneity and
evolution of cancers. Whilst this presents challenges for treatment,
it also explains why patients respond differently to treatment,
why cancers return after treatment, and why some cancers
become resistant to treatment.
Arming everyone with vital information
To beat cancer, we need to arm everyone with the right
information. We’ve supported the Department of Health in
developing their ‘Be Clear on Cancer’ campaigns. These raise
awareness and encourage people to visit their GP sooner rather
than later if they notice any persistent changes that could be signs
of cancer.

Our vision is of a world where no one’s life is cut short by cancer.
Every day our scientists and doctors get closer to finding cures
for all cancers – whether through targeted treatment or
detecting cancers earlier. Our success is thanks to their efforts
and the collective endeavour of our supporters and volunteers.
We’ve continued to make great progress. But the risk of being
diagnosed with cancer is rising. By 2027, we predict that one in two
men will get cancer during their lifetime; the risk for women is also
set to rise markedly. The good news is that the chance of surviving
cancer is improving too, thanks to better diagnosis and treatment.
Improving treatments and developing new ones
Our researchers are working hard to create new and kinder
treatments, which increase survival or improve a patient’s quality
of life. We completed a trial that will transform the way people with
bladder cancer are treated, with fewer patients needing to have
their bladder removed. We also set a new gold standard for treating
thyroid cancer, significantly reducing radiation doses, making
treatment safer.

We updated our advice on breast screening to help women
understand the benefits as well as the possible harms due to
over‑treatment. This followed an independent review led by
Professor Sir Michael Marmot, which we set up with the National
Cancer Director. Our researchers continue to look for ways
to distinguish between slow growing and aggressive breast
tumours to spare women from over-diagnosis in the future.
Working towards a positive future
Every day nearly 600 UK children become smokers. We’re
campaigning to make this deadly habit less attractive by removing
all branding from tobacco packs to help protect the next
generation. We eagerly await the results of the Government
consultation on standardised packaging.
We took an innovative approach to involve the public in our work
and speed up research. Advances in technology mean cancer
research is generating huge amounts of data which needs
analysing. Now anyone can get involved and help us by using
our online tool, Cell Slider, to reduce research times from years
to months.
Thank you
Every step we make towards beating cancer relies on our scientists,
doctors, employees, volunteers, supporters and many others
pulling together. Thank you all so much for your support.

We are committed to tackling every type of cancer. To date we
have funded five trials to improve treatments as part of our
International Rare Cancers Initiative which helps develop
international clinical trials for extremely rare cancers.
We’ve also funded two trials that investigate using aspirin to
prevent and treat a range of common and rarer cancers.
When cancer has spread, it’s much harder to treat. So it’s essential
we understand how this happens and how to treat tumours once
they have spread. Increasingly, our scientists are discovering that
healthy cells around a tumour play a role in the way it develops and
how successful treatment will be. So we are doing more research
looking at how to treat tumours and their environment together.

cruk.org

Harpal S Kumar
Chief Executive
4 June 2013
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Our life-saving work to
prevent, treat and cure cancer
Progress against our 2012/13 objectives

1

2

Drive forward research that
will lead to new ways of
tackling cancer and deliver
more effective, tailored
treatments to patients

We continued to fund some of the UK’s
best cancer research, including awarding
funding for 27 new programme grants,
11 translational projects, 37 trials and
feasibility studies and 14 fellowships and
awards for new investigators. The quality
of work taking place at our Institutes and
in our Clinical Trials Units was confirmed
through international peer review,
with almost all of our investigators
being congratulated for the excellence
of their work.

• Our Stratified Medicine Programme aims

to demonstrate how affordable genetic
tests could be used throughout the
NHS to improve cancer diagnosis and
match the most appropriate treatment to
individual cancer patients. By March 2013
over 6,000 patients across 21 hospitals
had samples of their tumours tested for
11 different genes known to be faulty in
a range of cancers. We are on target to
complete the analysis for 9,000 patients
by June 2013.
With patients’ consent we collected
information on their treatment and
outcome. We are helping to set up
a database so scientists can use this
information for research. Patients are
also being screened to see if they are
eligible for two clinical trials. One is
testing the drug dasatinib for use in lung
cancer and the other is testing the skin
cancer drug vemurafenib to investigate
its effectiveness in treating other cancers.
We also worked with the Department
of Health to develop a new structure
for delivering genetic tests for cancer
patients in the UK.

Accelerate the translation
of laboratory research into
new treatments for cancer

• We continued to fund research to

unravel the complexity of cancer.
This included nine genomics projects
to identify the genetic faults involved
in various cancer types. In addition,
the International Cancer Genome
Consortium projects, aiming to pinpoint
the genetic faults in prostate and
oesophageal cancers, were fully
launched. Together, these projects
have submitted hundreds of patient
tumour samples for whole genome
sequencing. The results will lead to the
development of new ways to diagnose
and treat cancer.

Across the UK our network of 18 Centres
continued to lead a broad programme
of translational research – taking new
discoveries and turning them into
benefits for patients more quickly.
Additionally, we funded 11 new awards
for translational projects.

• Our Combinations Alliance initiative

aims to bring together pharmaceutical
companies with researchers to carry
out early phase trials on new drug
combinations, ensuring they are tested
in a wide range of cancer types. Several
studies opened this year, including early
trials of new treatments for oesophageal,
gastric and bladder cancers.

• We embarked on a five-year programme
to improve and increase the sharing of
expertise and resources between our
Experimental Cancer Medicine Centres,
which run early-phase trials of new
treatments at hospitals across the UK.
This year we improved collaboration
between Centres to allow faster
recruitment to trials and give patients
access to trials at multiple Centres.

• The Cancer Research Technology (CRT)
Pioneer Fund was launched to bridge
the gap between drug discovery and
development and accelerate the flow
of potential new drugs into clinical trials.
The first two projects were approved
to develop innovative treatments.
The CRT Discovery Labs also secured
a number of new drug discovery
partnerships with industry.
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4

3

Boost research into rare
or hard-to-treat cancers
to deliver urgently needed
new treatments and tackle
poor survival rates

Support a broad range
of clinical research
that will deliver better
treatments for patients

We built on our portfolio of over 250
world-leading clinical trials by funding
37 new trials and feasibility studies.

• Through our Clinical Trials Awards and

Advisory Committee, we continued to
fund high quality research to improve
surgery and radiotherapy, areas not
usually funded by pharmaceutical
companies. We are supporting the
UK part of a global tissue collection
associated with radiotherapy trials.
This will enable research to help doctors
personalise radiotherapy, so patients get
the dose that’s right for them, minimising
side effects.

• To ensure our clinical trials have the

maximum impact, we have funded an
increasing number of trials that include
research into biomarkers – tests that
help doctors monitor how cancer
is developing or whether a treatment
is working.

• The UK leads the world in the proportion
of cancer patients taking part in clinical
trials. Our seven major Trials Units were
reviewed by an international panel of
experts in October 2012. This confirmed
their world-class quality, with many
of our trials having changed clinical
practice globally.

• We lobbied the EU to reduce the

red-tape surrounding the regulation of
clinical trials as they began their process
for revising the legislation. The current
legislation hampers our ability to
do clinical research as quickly and
cost-effectively as we would like.

• We influenced the strategy of the newly

established Health Research Authority
(HRA), which aims to protect and
promote the interests of patients and
the public in health research. This year
the HRA has been working to further
streamline the regulation and governance
of clinical research across the UK.

We worked with the research community
and international cancer experts to
develop strategies for those cancers
where survival rates are poor or patient
numbers are low and trials are difficult.

• To help stimulate new approaches

to lung cancer research and improve
survival rates we ran a workshop with
an international group of experts.
Following recommendations from this
meeting we’ve taken steps to establish
a network of excellence, including
investing in senior recruitment, research
infrastructure and training. Ultimately
the network is expected to undertake a
wide spectrum of lung cancer research.
In December 2012 a number of
our researchers went to Beijing to
explore opportunities for international
collaboration in lung and oesophageal
cancer research, and we are investigating
funding schemes to support this work.

• Our International Rare Cancers Initiative

aims to boost trials into new treatments
for very rare types of cancer. There are
10 trials in development for seven cancer
types and five of these have been
approved. The first trial is now open in
the US for a rare type of gynaecological
sarcoma and we expect the first UK
patient will be entered soon.

• We ran a pancreatic cancer workshop

with international research experts to
help develop our strategy and tackle this
hard-to-treat disease more effectively.

cruk.org
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Our life-saving work to
prevent, treat and cure cancer
Progress against our 2012/13 objectives continued

5
Create environments that
will lead to faster progress
in the fight against cancer

We continued to drive the training and
development of high calibre researchers
through our Institutes and Centres and
by funding 14 fellowships and awards
for new investigators.

• To ensure cancer patients in

The Crick

England receive world-class care,
we commissioned research on the
impact of the NHS reforms on cancer
services. Changes to Cancer Networks
and the move to local commissioning
is causing concern due to the potential
fragmentation of services. We produced
a series of recommendations and
continue to monitor the situation.

• The Francis Crick Institute remains
on schedule to open in 2015.

This year progress was made on the
Institute’s science strategy and the broad
approach for the transfer of scientists
from our London Research Institute.

Building in progress

resulted in the Government making a
£23 million fund available to the NHS
to improve radiotherapy services in
England. We helped the Government
distribute this fund, ensuring it reached
hospitals that needed it the most
to make a difference for patients.

A stellar campaign board has been
assembled under the chairmanship of
Charles Manby. The ‘Create The Change’
campaign will help us raise £100 million
towards our £160 million contribution
to the Institute.
Through its collaborative approach
to science, The Crick will make a
step-change in cancer research.
This ‘super-laboratory’ will bring
together world-class scientists from
fields as diverse as structural biology
and genetics, mathematics and
computing. Using the latest technology,
they will work together to understand
and treat the most significant diseases
affecting people today, including
cancer, heart disease and tuberculosis.
Being part of the Institute will accelerate
our goal to beat cancer and keep the
UK at the forefront of innovation in
medical research. Discoveries made
here will become the cures, vaccines
and drugs of the future, transforming
the healthcare of generations to come.
crick.ac.uk

• Our Voice for Radiotherapy campaign

Planned design

• Our ‘More Tomorrows’ campaign,

launched with our partners The
Christie Hospital and The University of
Manchester to fund the construction
of the new Manchester Cancer Research
Centre building, is underway with
a £10 million target. Building began
in October 2012 and is due to be
completed in late 2014.
We successfully completed the
transfer of our Cambridge Institute
to the University of Cambridge and
appointed Professor Simon Tavaré
as the new director, succeeding
Professor Sir Bruce Ponder.

The Prime Minister also made a
commitment that all patients would be
able to access the most appropriate
radiotherapy treatments from April 2013,
regardless of where they live. This includes
advanced radiotherapy such as Intensity
Modulated Radiotherapy, which is more
targeted and results in fewer side effects.

• In the 2012 Budget, a cap on income

tax relief was proposed on donations
to charity, which could have been
a disincentive to many donors.
We provided insight on this to the
Treasury and jointly led a sector-wide
campaign that resulted in a reversal
of the proposal.

• We developed regional cancer statistics
and key messages to highlight local
health priorities and influence MPs
and local health commissioners.
Local statistics about lung cancer and
tobacco helped us lobby MPs on the
importance of standardised packaging
for tobacco products.
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6
Promote cancer prevention
and early diagnosis and
inform the public

We used information, advertising and
marketing tools to raise awareness of the
signs and symptoms of cancer amongst
the public. This was underpinned by a
broad programme of research designed
to help prevent more cases and save
more lives in the future.

• We evaluated the progress of the first

research projects funded through the
National Awareness and Early Diagnosis
Initiative. We also gathered opinions from
researchers about how best to support
work in these areas in the future. Based
on our findings, a new call for research
proposals was launched to encourage
applications in areas where we feel
more progress is needed.

• We funded two new prevention trials

investigating the use of aspirin in
high-risk groups – one in people with
Lynch’s syndrome, who have a greater
risk of bowel cancer, and the second
in patients with early stage cancers
including bowel, breast and prostate.

• Over 80,000 people supported our

campaign for standardised packaging
of tobacco in response to the
Government’s formal consultation.
Our video showing the impact of
cigarette packaging on young children
had over half a million views, and the
campaign won the Public Affairs News
2012 Award for innovative campaign of
the year. We were encouraged with the
Scottish Government’s commitment to
standardised packaging and we continue
to lobby the Westminster Government
to introduce legislation.

cruk.org

• We continued to support and evaluate

the Department of Health’s ‘Be Clear
on Cancer’ public awareness campaigns.
National campaigns on both bowel
and lung cancer symptoms were
launched and monitored. These led
to increased public awareness of the
symptoms featured.

• To promote the benefits of spotting

cancer early and encourage people
to report potential symptoms to their
doctor, our ‘Spot Cancer Early’ campaign
used posters and online advertising
featuring people who survived cancer
thanks to early diagnosis.

• It is vital that GPs make necessary

prompt referrals based on sound
knowledge of cancer symptoms so
that patients are diagnosed as soon
as possible. Our campaign with
Doctors.net.uk increased communication
between GPs and hospital doctors to
help improve referral.
In partnership with the British Association
of Dermatologists we developed a new
skin cancer toolkit, which was used by
over 8,000 GPs.

• Our partnership with the Royal College

of General Practitioners (RCGP) was
strengthened with the appointment of
Professor Greg Rubin as our CRUK/RCGP
Clinical Cancer Lead. We produced
a cancer e-learning module for the
RCGP website.
In London and Merseyside & Cheshire
we piloted tailored activities for GPs,
to engage them on the importance
of early diagnosis.

• We jointly appointed and supported

the independent panel for the
Breast Screening Review chaired by
Professor Sir Michael Marmot, whose
findings were published in The Lancet
in October 2012. We produced
supporting materials to help enable
women to make an informed choice
about breast screening – visit
cruk.org.uk/breastscreeningreview
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Our life-saving work to
prevent, treat and cure cancer
Some of our key objectives for 2013/14

1

2

Launch a new five-year
research strategy

Drive forward research that will
lead to new ways of treating cancer

• Complete work to develop our new five-year research

• Commence Phase II of our Stratified Medicine

strategy, which will be published in 2014.

The new strategy will outline specific areas of focus,
including cancer biology, early diagnosis, translational
research and tackling cancers with poor survival rates.

Programme, including screening patients to test
their eligibility for current or future clinical trials.

• Continue to fund research to unravel the genetic
complexity of cancer.

• Support research that develops our understanding
of tumour initiation, evolution and heterogeneity.

3

4

Accelerate the translation
of laboratory research into
new treatments for cancer

Support a broad range of clinical
research that will deliver better
treatments for patients

• Review our Centres in autumn 2013 to ensure they are

• Continue to fund innovative new trials.

supporting a broad range of world-leading translational
research that will benefit more patients sooner.

• Work with pharmaceutical partners to test new
combinations of cancer drugs.

• Continue to invest in projects that bridge the gap

between drug discovery and development through
our Cancer Research Technology Pioneer Fund.

• Continue to fund research to improve surgery
and radiotherapy.

• Monitor the success of the Government’s funding to
improve and increase the use of Intensity Modulated
Radiotherapy across the UK and continue to lobby
for improvements to radiotherapy services.
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5
Boost research into rare or
hard-to-treat cancers to deliver
urgently needed new treatments
and tackle poor survival rates
• Establish at least one Lung Cancer Centre and stimulate
a broad range of research across the UK to boost
survival rates.

• Develop a strategy for our research into brain tumours

and pancreatic and oesophageal cancers, to save more
lives from these diseases.

• Continue to develop our International Rare Cancers Initiative.

6
Create environments that will
lead to faster progress in the fight
against cancer
• Continue to work with our partners to develop

The Francis Crick Institute and raise funds through
our ‘Create The Change’ campaign.

• Continue to raise funds for the new Manchester Cancer
Research Centre building.

• Continue to invest in the next generation of cancer

researchers, through our fellowships and within our
Institutes and Centres.

• Monitor cancer services during NHS reform.
• Lobby Government to protect funding for medical research.
• Build our local influence, including providing local statistics
and briefings for MPs and health commissioners.

7
Promote cancer prevention and early
diagnosis and inform the public
• Continue to campaign for the standardised packaging

of tobacco and keep pushing on broader tobacco control.

• Run an awareness campaign to encourage uptake of bowel
cancer screening and lobby Government for widespread
use of the bowel scope test.

8
Provide comprehensive information
for patients and carers to inform
choice and boost outcomes as
well as involving the public more
in our work
• Continue to improve our online patient information.

• Fund research to investigate the use of aspirin in

• Develop our patient forum Cancer Chat, improving

• Expand our GP engagement work to diagnose more

• Develop an online ‘gateway’ for cancer patients, giving

• Continue to raise public awareness of the importance

• Continue to explore opportunities to involve the public

• Drive greater research progress in prevention and early

• Build on our work with Cancer Ambassadors, who play

cancer prevention.
cancers earlier.

of early detection.

detection, including co-chairing the National Awareness
and Early Diagnosis Initiative.

cruk.org

access from mobile devices.

them greater access to personalised cancer information.
in our research through ‘Citizen Science’ initiatives.

a vital role in supporting our policy campaigns, to drive
greater success in our campaigns.
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Our finances

Financial summary

Costs of charitable activities
2013
£m

2012
£m

Change %

Total income

537

493

+9

Fundraising income

460

432

+6

Annual research activity

351

332

+6

Total funds

196

181

+8

Managed cash
and investments

179

182

-2

In a challenging fundraising market we are pleased to report a
9% increase in total income to £537 million (2012: £493 million).
Our income and reserves enabled us to increase our annual
research activity by 6% to £351 million (2012: £332 million).
Our year-end financial position of total funds of £196 million and
managed cash and investments of £179 million provides a sound
platform from which we can continue to meet our commitments.
Fundraising income and costs
Income from fundraising was up 6% to £460 million (2012:
£432 million). Growth in fundraising was enhanced by two new
events – Stand Up To Cancer and Dryathlon. Income from The
Francis Crick Institute appeal was £13 million (2012: £11 million).
The costs of generating funds was £150 million (2012: £149 million),
including investment in fundraising innovation. We continued our
focus on driving efficiencies. As a result, 82% of every £ donated
was available to beat cancer (2012: 80%).
2013
2013
Total Non-Trading
£m
£m

2012
2012
Total Non-Trading
£m
£m

Income

537

449

493

Costs

150

80

149

411
81

Net income

369

330

% available to beat cancer

82%

80%

The profits of fundraising trading activities are excluded from
Non-Trading income and costs above.
Charitable income
Income from charitable activities was up nearly 30% to £75 million
(2012: £58 million). Growth was achieved mainly through Cancer
Research Technology Ltd’s licensing portfolio which saw a 35%
increase in income to £50 million (2012: £37 million).

Our research is carried out in many institutes, universities
and hospitals across the UK, both by our in-house and
grant-funded researchers – in many cases working
closely together.
Research costs and how we report grants
Many of our research grants are awarded for several years and
may then be renewed to support the next stage in the research
process. In all areas we carry out the same rigorous process
of review and evaluation to ensure our funds are allocated to
research of the highest standard. Committees of international
experts in each research field review funding applications,
including the renewal of existing awards, and monitor the
quality of research programmes.
Some 50% of our research was carried out at third-party
institutions which are grant-funded by the Charity. Research
expenditure, included in the Statement of Financial Activities on
page 23, continues to reflect the requirement to account for our
research grants to universities and hospitals at the time we make
an award. The remaining 50% of our research was carried out
through directly funded activities, where research work is
accounted for in line with activity in the year. Together, grants and
directly funded work make up ‘costs of research’ in the financial
statements. The total for the year was up 5% at £347 million
(2012: £332 million), including a grant of the assets of our
Cambridge Research Institute to the University of Cambridge
at £13 million net book value.
The way that we account for grants affects the reported cost
of research. Scientific milestone reviews are timed so that the
progress of each grant can be properly assessed. We account
for each grant by providing in advance for all expected payments
up to the next scientific review. As an example, most five-year
programme grants are recognised in two tranches – one of three
years and the second of two years. The difference between when
we account for grants and when we actually pay them affects the
presentation of costs over time. Where grants are recognised in
larger, less frequent tranches, the pattern of research costs can be
more volatile than the underlying trend of annual research activity.
We also measure research undertaken during the year by
calculating the cost of work carried out using our funds,
regardless of awarding patterns. This is termed ‘annual
research activity’. This increased by 6% to £351 million
(2012: £332 million).
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Costs of research and annual
research activity (£m)
330 338
303 355
308 334
325 332
332 332
347 351

2013
£m

Reclassified
2012
£m

128

135

Breast

41

42

Colon and rectal

27

23

Prostate

19

19

Leukaemia

18

18

Lung

13

10

Melanoma

12

9

Ovarian

12

12

Research into the biology of cancer
Site-specific research

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

Costs of research
Annual research activity
Annual research activity
Some 38% of our research activity is directed towards the biology
of cancer, which underpins our understanding of all types of
cancer. The remaining 62% is directed to specific cancer types.
The annual research activity by cancer type, itemising the
20 types with the most research activity, is shown opposite.

1

Non-Hodgkin lymphoma

7

6

Brain

6

4

Pancreatic

6

8

Skin

6

6

Oesophageal

6

5

Bladder

5

4

Myeloma

4

3

Kidney

4

3

Cervical

3

3

Small intestine

2

2

Pharyngeal

2

2

Testicular

2

2

Neuroblastoma

2

1

Other
Total site-specific research
Grant of research assets
Total annual research activity

2

Difference between annual
research activity and accounting
costs of research
Total costs of research in the
financial statements (page 29)
Cancer information
and influencing
Cost of charitable activities in the
financial statements (page 23)

13

15

210

197

13

–

351

332

(4)

–

347

332

17

16

364

348

F or more information on the research we fund, visit our website at
cruk.org/science/research/who-and-what-we-fund

cruk.org

1

Site-specific research includes an apportionment of research that is
relevant to all sites. Wherever possible, research is assigned to a specific
cancer type; however, some research is neither biology of cancer nor
can it be tied to an individual cancer, e.g. a project on pain control
relevant to all cancer patients.

2

The figures include apportionment of uncoded work totalling £49 million
(2012 reclassified: £37 million), which cannot be tied specifically to one
type of cancer but underpins all areas of research. The 2012 figure has
been reclassified to apportion some Cancer Research Technology costs
across all disease sites.
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Our finances
continued

Cancer information and influencing

As shown below, we met our reserves measures at 31 March 2013.
Managed cash and investments

We spent £17 million (2012: £16 million) on cancer
information and influencing, activities that contribute
to the prevention and treatment of cancer.

31 March 2013
£m

31 March 2012
£m

Cash and investments
Less: funds under separate
management 1

192
(13)

193
(11)

Funds
Total funds at 31 March 2013 were up 8% to £196 million
(2012: £181 million). General funds remained at £165 million.
There was a £2 million improvement in the pension fund
(including £8 million of deficit contributions paid in the year)
and a £13 million increase in restricted and endowment funds,
largely due to the success of Stand Up To Cancer.

Managed cash and investments

179

182

3.8
months

4.4
months

31 March 2013
£m

31 March 2012
£m

Cash and investments reduced by 1% to £192 million (2012:
£193 million). A net £14 million of cash was generated from
operations, while capital expenditure on the programme-related
investment in The Francis Crick Institute and other tangible fixed
assets was £18 million (2012: £15 million).

Investments – financial
Fixed assets – realisable
Current assets
Current liabilities
Provisions payable
in the next 12 months2

47
4
293
(197)

66
5
250
(202)

(10)

(10)

Adjusted net assets

137

109

42%

34%

Months of future total cash
outflows (Policy = 2 months
minimum)

Adjusted net assets

Reserves policy and management
We maintain a prudent level of reserves to enable the
Charity to manage financial risk and deliver our research
commitments, including our contribution to The Crick,
over a rolling five-year planning horizon.
Since our research commitments span many years, we plan over
the long-term. But as a fundraising charity, we are subject to the
effects of short-term volatility in income. We hold funds in reserve
to ensure that we can meet our research commitments in the
face of such fluctuations. We use a rolling five-year plan to model
how the Charity will manage resources optimally in delivering its
strategy, while holding reserves at no more than is necessary.
Our reserves policy mandates a minimum level of cash and
investments to enable the Charity to discharge its financial
commitments as they fall due over the course of the five-year
plan. We monitor ‘managed cash and investments’, a measure
which includes all amounts available to finance the general
activities of the Charity. The policy is always to hold a minimum
of two months total cash outflows in managed cash and
investments.
We also monitor a balance sheet based measure of reserves –
‘adjusted net assets’. This enables us to maintain an adequate
surplus of realisable assets over short-term liabilities to absorb
any unplanned shortfall in our future fundraising contribution.
The policy is to hold a minimum of 10% of fundraising
contribution in adjusted net assets.

% of planned annual
fundraising contribution
(Policy = 10% minimum)
1

Consolidated endowments and charities.

2

Including pensions deficit contributions.

We continue to place emphasis on prudent management of
reserves and on long-term financial planning. During the year,
we completed an annual review of the reserves policy, updated
our rolling five-year plan and regularly monitored reserves
measures. This is particularly important as we fund our investment
commitment in The Francis Crick Institute. As a result, we expect
reserves to reduce from current levels towards policy minimum
levels over the next two years.

Investment policy and performance
Our investment policy remains unchanged following annual
review. It is designed to meet the reserves policy exceeding
minimum levels of managed cash and investments over a
five-year planning horizon. The aim is to minimise exposure to
capital losses, provide the liquidity required by our five-year plan
and, subject to those constraints, to generate stable income.
As a result, we invest in cash and cash-like investments up to
the minimum reserves levels. Above these levels, investments
that might provide higher returns are considered, while still
preserving capital.
The total return on investments for the year was £3 million
(2012: £4 million). Across the asset classes, returns were generally
in line with or exceeded benchmarks. Cash and cash-like
investments had an average return of 1.2% against a benchmark
of 0.5%. The bond fund had a total return of 4.2%, against a
benchmark of 0.7%. The endowment funds had an average
return of 8.9%, against a benchmark of 7.7%.
Smoking causes around a third of all cancer deaths in the UK
and it is our policy not to invest in tobacco companies or
related businesses.
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Fixed assets and investments
We continued to develop plans for The Francis Crick Institute.
During the year, we contributed a further £11 million towards
the construction of the building (2012: £16 million). We and
our partners fund the design and build by means of capital
contributions to The Crick. The total costs of this initiative to date
are included in programme-related investments at £56 million
(2012: £45 million). In total, we expect our investment in
completing the new institute to be £160 million by 2015.
This includes £18.5 million investment in land.

Activities for generating funds
Cancer Research UK Trading Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary
which generates income from trading activity within the
fundraising portfolio. Total revenue was up 9% to £24 million
in the year (2012: £22 million), and profit on ordinary activities
was up 150% to £5 million (2012: £2 million). The company
generates trading income through fees, sales, auctions and
corporate sponsorship associated with our events, the largest
being Race for Life. Other activities include the selling of
cause-related merchandise through our corporate partnerships
and royalty income.

We spent £7 million on other fixed assets additions (2012:
£15 million), principally to invest in research facilities at our
directly-funded institutes.

The Imperial Cancer Research Fund and The Cancer Research
Campaign continue to receive legacy income on behalf of the
Charity. This income is transferred to the Charity immediately
on receipt.

Subsidiaries and related parties

Pensions
Employees participate in both defined contribution and defined
benefit plans. Employees may join the Cancer Research UK
Retirement Plan, a defined contribution scheme, at any time.
The Cancer Research UK Pension Scheme (the Scheme),
a defined benefit scheme, is closed to new entrants.

Activities in furtherance of our objectives
Cancer Research Technology Ltd (CRT) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary. Its principal activity is to exploit intellectual property
rights arising from research to ensure that discoveries are
developed by the optimal route to deliver patient benefit.
Revenues were £50 million (2012: £37 million including grants
from the Charity of £4 million). Profit on ordinary activities was
£8 million (2012: £4 million). Royalty income from abiraterone
acetate, a treatment for prostate cancer, has exceeded
expectations and has offset declines in income from
temozolomide as its patents begin to expire. In light of this and
the potential of other products in advanced clinical development,
the outlook for CRT is considered to be promising.
The Beatson Institute for Cancer Research, Glasgow, as a core
funded Institute, has developed a distinct approach to support
high quality science with world-class facilities. The Institute
has been substantially strengthened by the development of its
Drug Discovery Programme, the expansion and modernisation
of its Biological Services Unit and the establishment of a screening
facility as well as building proteomics and metabolomics
capability. The Institute continues to provide an outstanding
environment to support the training and development of
scientists, allowing it to develop strong interactions and
partnerships with the NHS and local universities.
The Francis Crick Institute Ltd is a UK registered charity and limited
company formed to manage the creation of The Francis Crick
Institute. At 31 March 2013 the Charity had provided 19% of
the funding for the construction of the new building and held
16% of The Francis Crick Institute’s shares. Our partners in this
venture are the Medical Research Council, the Wellcome Trust,
University College London, Imperial College London and King’s
College London.
The Gibb Research Fellowship Endowment Fund has four
research fellows and an annual reward scheme promoted
by the Charity to encourage and recognise those making
outstanding contributions to cancer research.
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In line with normal practice, there are two bases for assessing the
value of the assets and liabilities of the Scheme. For accounting
purposes, they are reported in accordance with the relevant
accounting standard – FRS17. In addition, the trustees of the
Scheme commission a triennial actuarial funding valuation
to ensure the Scheme is appropriately funded. The prescribed
basis for the latter currently results in a higher value for Scheme
liabilities – mainly due to a more cautious discount rate.
On an FRS17 basis, the Scheme had a deficit at 31 March 2013
of £4 million (2012: £6 million), equivalent to 0.9% of Scheme
liabilities. The improvement reflects the deficit contributions
paid in the year of £8 million. Returns on Scheme assets in
excess of expected rates were offset by the effect on the valuation
of Scheme liabilities of changes in actuarial assumptions. The
valuation is particularly sensitive to the impact of the discount
rate assumption on Scheme liabilities: a variation of 0.1% in the
discount rate results in a change to the deficit of around £7 million
(2012: £9 million).
A triennial funding valuation took place as at 31 March 2012, and
showed a deficit of £61 million (2009: £102 million). A pension
deficit recovery plan is in place, which includes a schedule of
additional contributions to be made over the next 10 years.
On the basis of the 2012 triennial valuation assumptions, the
ongoing funding deficit would be eliminated by 2023. The Charity
continues to work with the Scheme trustees to manage the
funding of its obligations.
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governance, structure and management

Structure and management

Committees and advisory groups

Cancer Research UK (the Charity) is a company limited by
guarantee and is a registered charity. It is governed by a Council
of Trustees (Council), chaired by Michael Pragnell. Council
is ultimately responsible for the Charity’s strategic direction,
supported by its Committees to which Council delegates
certain authorities. The day-to-day running of the Charity
is the responsibility of the Executive Board.

Council
of
Trustees

Council Committees

Council oversees a robust governance framework.
The Charity’s governance fully complies with the Code for
the Voluntary and Community Sector, endorsed by the
Charity Commission.

Audit
Committee

FCI
Committee

Council
Council comprised 11 Trustees at 31 March 2013. All Trustees are
also Members and Directors of the Charity. It met six times during
the year. Council sets the Charity’s strategic direction, oversees
governance and is responsible for upholding the Charity’s values
and ensuring that the Charity achieves its objectives. Council
guides, advises and supports the Chief Executive and approves
annual budgets. It reviews a schedule of reserved matters
and delegates operational responsibility to the Chief Executive
and the Executive Board. During the year Council carried out
a self‑evaluation; all Trustees were invited to complete a
confidential questionnaire rating the effectiveness of Council and
the governance framework. Each Trustee has a 1:1 meeting with
the Chairman at which he/she has the opportunity to discuss any
issues of concern. At private sessions of Council issues identified
are discussed and changes made as appropriate.

Members
The Charity’s constitution allows the appointment of up to
100 Members. They are entitled to attend all general meetings,
including the Annual General Meeting (AGM). Their most
significant duties are to receive the Annual Report and Accounts
and to elect or re-elect Trustees. Regular contact is maintained with
Members, mainly through a quarterly letter from the Chairman.

Trustees (for more information see page 16)
The Trustees and Chairman are appointed for an initial period
of three years that can be extended for a further three-year term.
Any further extension may be made if it is deemed to be in the
best interests of the Charity.
The Trustees offer a wide range of skills and experience essential
to the good governance of the Charity. Each Trustee benefits
from an induction programme that includes visits to the Charity’s
research institutes and meetings with the Chief Executive and
other senior executives.

Finance
Committee

Fundraising &
Marketing
Committee

Executive
Board

Nomination,
Governance &
Remuneration
Committee

Research
Strategy
Committee

Scientific
Executive
Board

Advisory groups
Reporting line
Advisory line

Public Policy
Advisory
Group

Scientific
Advisory
Board

Committees
All Trustees serve on one or more Council Committee.
The Chairman is an ex officio member of all Council Committees,
except the Audit Committee, which he may attend if invited by
the Committee Chairman. Any Trustee may attend any Council
Committee meeting. The Committees each have specific
responsibilities on behalf of Council as outlined below.
They provide counsel, expertise and support to the Executive
Board. Details of membership of Committees are shown in the
table on page 16.
Audit Committee
The Committee is responsible for reviewing the Annual Report
and Accounts of the Charity, the accounting policies and the
financial reporting judgements included therein. It ensures
the independence and objectivity of the external auditors
and provides oversight of external and internal audit activities.
The Committee monitors the effectiveness of the Charity’s risk
management and internal control systems and provides an
assessment of the risk processes and policies to Council.
It met three times during the year.
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Finance Committee
The Committee is responsible for the oversight of all aspects
of the Charity’s financial policies and operations. It monitors the
short and long-term financial viability of the Charity, ensuring
there are sufficient resources to fund its commitments. It reviews
and approves for recommendation to Council the Investment
and Reserves policies and monitors compliance with them on a
regular basis. It reviews the annual and rolling five-year financial
plans of the Charity. It monitors performance against plans
and recommends action where necessary. It oversees the
management of the Charity’s investments and ensures that these
are managed to underpin the strategic objectives of the Charity.
It met three times during the year.

Research Strategy Committee
The Committee is responsible for the development, review and
implementation of the Charity’s research strategy. It considers the
research strategy and any changes to it and recommends it to
Council. It reviews scientific performance objectives and targets
for the Charity and monitors progress made towards them.
It exercises delegated authority on the implementation of
the research strategy and the research budget when this has
been approved by Council. During the year it carried out a
self-evaluation process to ensure it remained effective and
any issues identified were addressed. The Committee met
four times during the year.

Francis Crick Institute Committee
Formerly the UKCMRI Committee, this Committee was
established in 2008 to meet as needed from time to time to
provide direction to and scrutiny of the investment in The Francis
Crick Institute. It did not meet in the financial year under review.

Advisory groups

Fundraising and Marketing Committee
During the year the former Fundraising and Marketing advisory
group was replaced by a formal Council Committee, chaired by a
Trustee. The Committee met twice in the year and is responsible
for supervisory oversight on behalf of Council of the Charity’s
fundraising and marketing strategy and activities.
Nomination, Governance and Remuneration Committee
During the year the Nomination and Governance Committee
was merged with the Remuneration Committee. The merged
Committee is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to Council with regard to the governance
policies and procedures of the Charity, assessing the governance
structure including Membership, Council, Council Committees
and their respective roles. It initiates the search and selection
process and makes recommendations to Council for new
Members, Trustees and the leadership of the Charity as may
be necessary, assisted by independent search companies and
open advertising. In selecting suitable candidates for trusteeship,
the Committee considers a range of factors, including relevant
skills, experience and diversity. During the year the Committee
undertook a review of the governance framework, including
updating the Articles of Association and all Committee terms
of reference.
The Committee also reviews and approves the remuneration
of the Executive Board. It determines and agrees the overall
policy for the remuneration and pension arrangements of all
the Charity’s employees and oversees any major changes in
employee benefits. The former Nomination and Governance
Committee met twice during the year and the former
Remuneration Committee met once. The joint Committee
held its first meeting during the year.
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There are two advisory groups – the Policy and Public Affairs
Advisory Group and the Scientific Advisory Board – which provide
advice and support to relevant Executive Board members and
help inform the development of strategy in their respective areas.

Executive Board
The Executive Board is responsible for the day-to-day running
of the Charity under authority delegated by Council. It proposes
to Council where the Charity should invest its time, money and
expertise. It also reviews with Council any changes to strategy on
an annual basis. The annual operating budget is presented to the
Finance Committee and Council for their approval. The Executive
Board members can be found on page 17.

The Scientific Executive Board
The Scientific Executive Board is responsible for the
implementation of science strategy and policy after its approval
by the Research Strategy Committee and Council. It works closely
with the Research Strategy Committee, the Scientific Advisory
Board and the Executive Board.
For more information on how the Charity is governed
visit the website cruk.org/about-us/how-we-are-governed
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governance, structure and management
continued

Committees and Trustee membership

2010

James Crosby

2008

1

Anne Baldock

2011

Wendy Becker

2011

Professor Anton Berns

2010

Professor Adrian Bird

2010

Helen Calcraft

2011

Dr Philip Campbell

2012

Professor Jonathan Knowles

2011

Roger Matthews

2008

Professor Peter Selby

2012

Member

Research
Strategy

Nomination,
Governance &
Remuneration

Fundraising &
Marketing

Francis Crick
Institute

2003

2

Dr Adrian Crellin

Chairman

Audit

Trustees
Michael Pragnell (Chairman)

Finance

Council Committees
Year of Trustee
Appointment

Council

Invited to attend

Ex officio

Acting Chairman since December 2012.

1

James Crosby stepped aside as Treasurer in December 2012 and resigned as a Trustee on 9 April 2013.

2

Retired 30 November 2012.

Trustees
The Trustees as of 4 June 2013 who served during the year are
listed below.
Michael Pragnell MA MBA, Chairman (66) was the founder
Chief Executive Officer of Syngenta AG. He led the creation of
Syngenta to become world leader in crop protection following
the merger of the agrochemicals and plant bio-science
businesses of AstraZeneca and Novartis. He retired at the end of
2007 after a 39-year career in the chemical and bio-technology
industries. He is a Director of Cancer Research Technology
Limited, a non-executive director of VINCI SA and a member
of the board of INSEAD.
Anne Baldock LLB (53) is a retired partner of Allen & Overy LLP,
a leading global law firm. During her time at Allen & Overy, she
played a pivotal role in establishing and maintaining the firm’s
position at the top of the legal profession. Anne also sits on the
board providing scrutiny and advice to the Secretary of State for
Energy and Climate Change on nuclear decommissioning and
is a non-executive director of Hydrogen Group PLC.
Wendy Becker BA MBA (47) is COO of Jack Wills and a
non-executive at Whitbread plc. She was previously a partner
at McKinsey followed by a career in consumer technology:
at Carphone Warehouse she built the TalkTalk Group, and as
Group Chief Marketing Officer at Vodafone she helped build
the company’s leading international position.

Professor Doctor Anton Berns (68) is the former Director
of Research and Chairman of the Board of Directors of the
Netherlands Cancer Institute. He is a member of a number of
scientific advisory boards of academic institutes including Institute
Curie Paris, IMP Vienna, WEHI Melbourne, IGBMC Strasbourg,
Max Planck Munich, Danish Cancer Centre, Wellcome Trust
Sanger Institute and European Institute of Oncology in Milan.
He served as Secretary General of the European Molecular
Biology Organisation until the end of 2012.
Professor Adrian Bird CBE FRS FRSE (65) has held the Buchanan
Chair of Genetics at the University of Edinburgh since 1990.
His awards include the 1999 Louis-Jeantet Prize for Medicine
and the 2011 Gairdner International Award. He was Deputy
Chairman of the Wellcome Trust from 2007 to 2010.
Helen Calcraft BA (Hons) MBA (46). After 10 years at the UK’s
largest advertising agency, AMV BBDO, Helen co-founded Miles
Calcraft Briginshaw Duffy in 1999. The agency was responsible
for accounts such as Waitrose, the Department of Health, and
Hovis and received the accolade of ad campaign of the decade.
From 2010 to 2012 she was Chairman of the digital agency Dare.
She is a member of WACL and the 30 Club, two of the industry’s
most prestigious networking clubs, and is soon to launch a
new agency.
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Dr Adrian Crellin MA FRCR FRCP (58) is a Consultant Clinical
Oncologist who was recently Vice-President of the Royal
College of Radiologists and is currently co-Chair of The National
Radiotherapy Implementation Group and Department of Health’s
National Clinical Lead on Proton Beam Therapy. He studied
medicine at the University of Cambridge and completed his
medical training at three London hospitals: St Bartholomew’s,
The Middlesex and Mount Vernon.
Professor Jonathan K.C. Knowles (65) is the former Head of
Group Research and Member of the Executive Committee at
Roche. He was a member of the Board at Genentech and Chugai
Pharmaceuticals. He is a Distinguished Professor in Personalised
Health Care at FIMM (Finnish Institute for Molecular Medicine) at
the University of Helsinki, a visiting Professor at the University
of Oxford and Professor Emeritus, EPFL, Lausanne, Switzerland.
Roger Matthews ACA BSocSci (58) is a Chartered Accountant
and is currently non-executive Chairman of MITIE Group plc,
LSL Property Services plc and Pertemps Network Group Limited.
He previously held the roles of Group Finance Director of
J. Sainsbury PLC, Managing Director and Group Finance Director
of Compass Group plc, and worked for Grand Metropolitan plc,
Cadbury Schweppes plc and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
Professor Peter Selby CBE DSc MD FMedSci FRCP (62) is a
consultant physician at St. James’ University Hospital, the
St. James’ Institute of Oncology and Professor of Cancer Medicine
at the University of Leeds. He is President of the Association
of Cancer Physicians and a Senior Investigator of the National
Institute for Health Research. In 2007 he was awarded the
Pfizer Excellence in Oncology Lifetime Achievement Award.
Changes to Council
Dr Philip Campbell retired on 30 November 2012 and
James Crosby resigned on 9 April 2013.
For more information on the Trustees and their full biographies
please visit the website cruk.org/about-us/trustees

Executive Board
The Executive Directors at 4 June 2013 were:
Harpal Kumar MA MEng MBA DSc (48)
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Executive Board
Harpal joined Cancer Research Technology Limited as
Chief Executive in 2002. In addition to this role, he became
Chief Operating Officer of Cancer Research UK in July 2004,
responsible for strategic direction and day-to-day operational
management, before becoming Chief Executive in April 2007.
Harpal is a Trustee of the Institute for Cancer Research and
The Francis Crick Institute, both in London. He is the Chairman
of the Board of the National Cancer Research Institute. He Chairs
the Cancer Outcomes Strategy Advisory Group in England and
co‑Chairs the National Awareness and Early Diagnosis Initiative.
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Iain Foulkes PhD
Executive Director, Strategy and Research Funding
Iain joined the Charity in 1999, becoming Director of Strategic
Development in Fundraising and Supporter Marketing in 2003.
He was appointed Executive Director, Strategy & Research
Funding in August 2009.
Professor Peter Johnson MA MD FRCP
Chief Clinician
Peter was appointed Chief Clinician for Cancer Research UK
in 2008. He is Professor of Medical Oncology at the University
of Southampton. He was Chair of the National Cancer Research
Institute Lymphoma Clinical Studies Group from 2005 to 2011.
Professor Nic Jones PhD
Chief Scientist and Chairman of Scientific Executive Board
Nic was appointed Chief Scientist for Cancer Research UK in
February 2011. He is Director of the Manchester Cancer Research
Centre and was previously Director of the Paterson Institute
in Manchester.
Lynne Robb BSc FCA
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director,
Corporate Resources
Lynne joined Cancer Research UK as Finance Director in 2002.
Soon after joining she was appointed Executive Director, Finance
and over the last seven years her role has expanded to Chief
Financial Officer and Executive Director, Corporate Resources.
Elizabeth Sideris BA MA FCIPD
Executive Director, Human Resources
Elizabeth joined the Charity as HR Director in 2006 and was
appointed Executive Director, Human Resources, in August 2009.
Previously she held similar positions at the Medical Research
Council and at CitiGroup.
Richard C Taylor
Executive Director, Fundraising and Marketing
Richard joined the Charity as Retail Director in April 1998. He was
appointed to his current position in 2007 following three years
as Executive co-Director of Fundraising and Marketing.
Sarah Woolnough BSc MSc
Executive Director, Policy and Information
Sarah joined the Charity as a Policy Researcher in 2005. She was
appointed Executive Director, Policy & Information, in 2012.
Clare Shepherd BA
General Counsel
The General Counsel is not a member of the Executive Board
but attends Executive Board meetings.
For more information on the Executive Board and their biographies
please visit the website cruk.org/about-us/executive-board
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governance, structure and management
continued

Employees

Management of risk

It is the Charity’s policy to provide equal opportunities to job
applicants and employees of any race, nationality, ethnic origin,
marital status, religion or belief, gender, disability, sexual
orientation, age or employment status. The Charity does not
condone or tolerate any form of discrimination in its recruitment
or employment practices. All employees and applicants are
treated on merit, fairly, with respect and dignity, recognised as
individuals and valued for the contribution they make, provided
fair and equal access to training, development, reward and
progression opportunities and are accountable for the impact of
their own behaviour and actions. All the Charity’s policies follow
these principles. During the year, regular communications to
employees have been provided on matters affecting them,
including factors affecting the Charity’s progress, and they have
been consulted on decisions affecting them.

Council is responsible for ensuring there are effective and
adequate risk management and internal control systems in
place to manage the major risks to which the Charity is exposed.
It assures itself of process effectiveness through a risk framework.
Such a framework is designed to manage, rather than eliminate,
the risk of failure to achieve the Charity’s objectives and can
provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Volunteers
Around 40,000 volunteers support the Charity by working
in shops and offices, at events and by fundraising in
their communities.

Processes in place include the following:

• A risk management framework provides a top-down review

by the Executive Board and bottom-up approach by function
that determines risk exposures. Risks identified through this
process are documented in a risk register. The Charity provides
training to employees, and draws upon the expertise of
functional specialists, to help in the identification, evaluation
and management of risks. The framework complies with the
requirements of the Charity Commission and the international
standard ISO 31000 for Risk Management.

• Committees of Council oversee major risks relevant to their

area of focus and ensure that appropriate systems for managing
identified risks are in place.

People who volunteer make a vital contribution towards
the Charity’s achievements. Their presence and impact are
wide-ranging. The Charity has over 17,500 volunteers in its retail
chain, 11,000 supporting events series, including Race for Life,
and 7,000 in local fundraising – in addition to all the volunteers
who contribute in offices and through placements and internships.
More than 100 Cancer Campaigns Ambassadors now actively
lobby on behalf of the Charity. All Trustees contribute their
time voluntarily.

• The Audit Committee agrees an annual risk-based internal audit

An internship scheme continues, involving 140 volunteer interns
in challenging 12-week projects. The scheme has been
recognised, for the seventh consecutive year, in the National
Council for Work Experience awards and was also highly placed
in Rate My Placement, which is voted for by the interns
themselves. The number of applicants finding volunteering
opportunities through the Charity’s website was over 3,800, in
addition to online Race for Life and Shine volunteer registrations.

• Council reviews a full risk report annually. It considers ‘heat

The annual ‘Flame of Hope’ awards recognised volunteers
from across the UK and from almost every area of work.
Michael Pragnell, Chairman, hosted an event in May 2012
showcasing the achievements of some of the most remarkable
volunteers and their exceptional commitment and dedication
to the Charity.

• Clear and easily accessible whistleblowing procedures are in

plan which covers major risks identified by management and
Trustees. It receives reports from the internal audit function
on the effectiveness of internal controls, progress against the
internal audit plan and progress on recommendations made
in reports. It reviews in detail at least one major risk at each of
its meetings. Minutes of all Council Committees are provided
to Council at the next available Council meeting after the
Committee meeting.

maps’ tracking major risks and has the opportunity to engage
in decisions on key risks.

• Formal project groups are established for major projects and
programmes that ensure that projects are properly planned
and implemented. A cross organisation governance group
monitors and prioritises major IT programmes.

place. The Audit Committee receives an annual whistleblowing
report. In addition, there are processes to investigate serious
incidents. Staff are provided with training on incident
management and reporting. These initiatives help ensure
that serious incidents are investigated and corrective action
taken as necessary.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
Risk
Continued economic pressure and increased competition for
voluntary income.

Management

• Brand campaigns to maintain awareness.
• Investment in marketing of core income activities and in the
innovation of new fundraising activities.

• Ongoing review of market intelligence.
Events that could impact reputation, e.g. a serious fraud, data
security breach or a significant health and safety incident.

• Senior level engagement in policy setting and monitoring.
• Comprehensive training and awareness programmes
for all staff.

• Dedicated specialist resource.
Impact of Government policy, NHS reforms and spending
reviews on the Charity’s research work.

• Lobbying key decision-makers and influencers in Government,

The environment for research becomes less favourable, resulting
in a reduced impact of the Charity’s work, e.g. due to regulatory
change, diminished investment from Government or industry.

• Monitoring of environmental shifts, actively engaging

Credit risk: the principal financial assets are bank balances,
investments, trade and other receivables.

• A policy is in place to limit the amount held with any one

Market risk: some of the Charity’s investments are subject to
market movements; small realised losses and unrealised gains
have been recorded this year.

• The current investment policy focuses on capital preservation

Currency risk: the Charity’s activities expose it to some risk of
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, primarily on US
dollars and Euros.

• Exposures are monitored and from time to time foreign

Liquidity risk: in the current economic climate, the Charity must
ensure it is able to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due.

• Continued improvement in cash flow management and

Going concern
The Trustees have reviewed the Charity’s financial position, taking
account of the satisfactory levels of reserves and cash, amounts
receivable that are not included in the accounts (principally
from the committed giving supporter base), the annual plan and
the five-year financial plan, and its systems of financial and risk
management. As a result of their review, the Trustees believe that
the Charity is well placed to manage operational and financial risks
successfully despite the on-going uncertain economic outlook.
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local authorities and the NHS.

• Senior level representation on many influential fora.

in dialogue with key opinion formers, building strong
relationships and alliances with partner organisations.

banking or investment group and to constantly review their
credit ratings, in addition to an active credit control policy.

and liquidity as explained in ‘investment policy and
performance’ on page 12.

exchange forward contracts may be used to hedge net
exposures, e.g. overseas royalty income.

forecasts, together with a prudent reserves policy as explained
on page 12.

Accordingly, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that
the Charity and the Group have adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the annual accounts.
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Statement of Trustees’ responsibilities

The Trustees (who are also Directors of the Charity for the
purposes of company law) are responsible for preparing the
Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
Company law requires the Trustees to prepare the financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Charity and the Group and of the
incoming resources and application of resources, including
the income and expenditure, of the Group for that period. In
preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

• observe the methods and principles of the Charities SORP;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent;

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Charity will
continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Charity and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006,
the Charities and Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and Charities
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Charity and the
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
In so far as the Trustees are aware:

• there is no relevant audit information of which the Charity’s
auditors are unaware; and

• the Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken

to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

The Trustees have a duty to report on how the Charity provides
public benefit by explaining:

• the significant activities undertaken in order to carry out its aims
for the public benefit; and

• its achievements measured against those aims.
The Trustees confirm that they have had regard to the Charity
Commission’s guidance on public benefit in reporting on the
Charity’s objectives and achievements on pages 4 to 9.
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the corporate and financial information included on Cancer
Research UK’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
The Legal and Administrative Details on page 50 form an integral
part of this report.
Auditors
A resolution for the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP as auditors for the Charity will be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
On behalf of the Trustees

Michael Pragnell
Chairman
4 June 2013
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members
and Trustees of Cancer Research UK

We have audited the financial statements of Cancer Research UK
for the year ended 31 March 2013 which comprise the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities, the Group and
Charity Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Information on Cash
Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
Respective responsibilities of trustees and auditors
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ Responsibilities Statement
set out on page 20, the trustees (who are also the directors of
the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the

parent charitable company’s affairs as at 31 March 2013 and of
the group’s incoming resources and application of resources,
including the group’s income and expenditure and cash flows,
for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act

2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005
and regulations 6 and 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland)
Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies
Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Trustees’ Report for
the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial statements.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and
only for the charity’s members and trustees as a body in
accordance with section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Companies Act 2006
and regulations made under those Acts (regulation 10 of the
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended)
and Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006) and for
no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent
in writing.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters
where the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) require us to report
to you if, in our opinion:

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This
includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the group’s and the parent charitable company’s
circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the trustees; and the overall
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all
the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report
and Accounts 2012/13 to identify material inconsistencies with
the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider
the implications for our report.
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• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
charitable company or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent charitable company’s financial statements are not
in agreement with the accounting records or returns; or

• certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law
are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit.

Liz Hazell (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
4 June 2013
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is eligible to act as an auditor
in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities
for the year ended 31 March 2013
(incorporating an income and expenditure account)

Note

Unrestricted
funds
2013
£m

Endowment/
restricted
funds
2013
£m

Total
2013
£m

Total
2012
£m

Voluntary income

2a

300.6

72.1

372.7

350.1

Activities for generating funds

2b

87.1

–

87.1

82.1

2.2

0.1

2.3

2.9

3

72.6

1.9

74.5

57.5

462.5

74.1

536.6

492.6

–

80.0

80.1

Incoming resources
Incoming resources from generated funds

Investment income
Incoming resources from charitable activities
Total incoming resources
Resources expended
Costs of generating funds
Costs of generating voluntary income

4a

80.0

Costs of fundraising trading

4b

69.7

–

69.7

68.6

Costs of managing investments

0.2

–

0.2

0.2

Total costs of generating funds

149.9

–

149.9

148.9

Net incoming resources available for charitable application

312.6

74.1

386.7

343.7

Costs of charitable activities

5

298.4

65.6

364.0

347.9

Governance costs

7

1.5

–

1.5

1.5

449.8

65.6

515.4

498.3

12.7

8.5

21.2

(5.7)

Total resources expended
Net incoming/(outgoing) resources before transfers
Transfers between funds

24,25

Net incoming/(outgoing) resources after transfers

(4.3)

4.3

–

–

8.4

12.8

21.2

(5.7)

Other recognised gains and losses
Net realised investment (losses)/gains

14

(0.4)

0.2

(0.2)

2.0

Net gain/(loss) on associates

15

0.2

–

0.2

(0.2)

9

8.2

13.0

21.2

(3.9)

Net unrealised investment gains/(losses)

14

0.7

–

0.7

(0.6)

Net actuarial loss on pensions

20

(7.5)

–

(7.5)

(0.2)

Net income/(expenditure) for the year

Net movement in funds
Funds brought forward
Funds carried forward

24,25

1.4

13.0

14.4

(4.7)

159.1

22.1

181.2

185.9

160.5

35.1

195.6

181.2

All amounts relate to continuing operations. All gains and losses recognised in the year are included in the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Activities (SOFA). There are no material differences between the net income/expenditure for the year and the historical
cost equivalents.
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Balance Sheets
as at 31 March 2013

Registered company number 4325234

Note

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Charity
2013
£m

Charity
2012
£m

Fixed assets
Negative goodwill

12

Tangible fixed assets

13

(3.2)

(4.0)

–

–

70.5

96.6

54.1

79.0

Investments

14

47.1

65.7

42.0

59.8

Programme-related investments

15

55.9

44.9

55.9

44.9

170.3

203.2

152.0

183.7

2.6

1.9

0.5

0.6

145.5

120.1

133.4

110.6

Current assets
Stock
Debtors

17

Investments

14

Cash and short-term deposits

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

18a

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

18b

Provisions for liabilities and charges

19

Net assets (excluding net pension liability)

79.0

55.2

79.0

55.2

66.0

72.5

56.1

64.7

293.1

249.7

269.0

231.1

(197.4)

(201.6)

(189.5)

(200.3)

95.7

48.1

79.5

30.8

266.0

251.3

231.5

214.5

(62.6)

(57.2)

(63.4)

(56.9)

(3.5)

(6.9)

(3.5)

(6.8)

199.9

187.2

164.6

150.8

(4.3)

(6.0)

(4.3)

(6.0)

Net pension liability

20

Net assets (including net pension liability)

26

195.6

181.2

160.3

144.8

Restricted funds

24

31.1

18.2

13.9

1.0

Permanent endowment funds

24

4.0

3.9

–

–

35.1

22.1

13.9

1.0

164.8

165.1

150.7

149.8

Funds
Restricted and endowment funds

Unrestricted funds
General funds (including revaluation reserve)

25

Pension deficit

20

Total funds

26

(4.3)

(6.0)

(4.3)

(6.0)

160.5

159.1

146.4

143.8

195.6

181.2

160.3

144.8

The financial statements on pages 23 to 49 were approved by the Trustees on 4 June 2013 and signed on their behalf by

Michael Pragnell, Chairman

Roger Matthews, Trustee
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Consolidated Information on Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Note

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

a) Reconciliation of net outgoing resources to net cash flow from operating activities
Net incoming/(outgoing) resources

21.2

(5.7)

Investment income

(2.3)

(2.9)

Depreciation charge for the year

13a

19.6

19.9

Write-off of book value on disposal of tangible fixed assets

13a

13.5

0.6

(0.8)

(0.8)

Amortisation of negative goodwill

12

Increase in stock
Increase in debtors
Increase in creditors

(0.7)

(0.2)

(25.4)

(1.7)

1.2

8.7

(3.4)

1.0

8.9

9.3

(18.0)

(19.0)

13.8

9.2

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

13.8

9.2

2.3

2.9

13a

(7.0)

(15.0)

15

(11.0)

(16.2)

(18.0)

(31.2)

(Decrease)/increase in provision for liabilities and charges
Total pension cost recognised in SOFA

20

Pension contributions by employer

20

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Note

b) Consolidated cash flow statement
Net cash inflow from operating activities
Investment income
Capital expenditure
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Increase in programme-related investments
Financial investments
Purchase of fixed and current asset investments

14

(72.0)

(128.2)

Proceeds from sale of fixed asset investments

14

70.5

113.3

Net cash outflow from investing activities

(1.5)

(14.9)

(19.5)

(46.1)

(3.1)

(36.1)

–

10.0

(3.1)

(26.1)

(6.5)

(60.1)

Management of liquid resources
Increase in cash and deposits (investment assets)
Decrease in short-term deposits (current assets)

14
c

Net cash outflow from liquid resources
Decrease in cash

c

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

72.5

142.6

–

(10.0)

(6.5)

(60.1)

66.0

72.5

c) Movement in cash and short-term deposits
Cash and short-term deposits at 1 April 2012
Decrease in short-term deposits
Decrease in cash
Cash and short-term deposits at 31 March 2013
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Notes to the Accounts

1. Accounting policies
Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis and under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation
of investment properties and listed investments. They comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Accounting and Reporting
by Charities’ as revised in 2005 (‘the SORP’), together with the reporting requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities Act 2011,
the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 and applicable accounting
standards in the United Kingdom. The Charity has adapted the Companies Act formats to reflect the SORP and the special nature of the
Charity’s activities. The accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the accounts and the prior year.
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated accounts incorporate the results of Cancer Research UK (‘the Charity’) and its subsidiary undertakings on a line by line
basis, as well as its share of the results of its associate using the net equity method. The consolidated entity is referred to as ‘the Group’.
No separate company Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA) has been prepared for the Charity as permitted by section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006 and paragraph 397 of the SORP.
Incoming resources
Incoming resources are accrued and included in the SOFA when the Group is entitled to the income and it can be quantified with
reasonable certainty and is deferred when it relates to future accounting periods.
Voluntary income
Legacies are recognised when probate is granted and there is sufficient information to value them: they are included at 90% of their
valuation (to reflect the uncertainty of estate administration) less an adjustment for any loss of value on unrealised property and
investment assets. Reversionary interests involving a life tenant are not recognised. Donations are accounted for when received except
donations from events which are recognised when the event takes place. Donations in kind are recognised at their value to the Group
when received and an equivalent amount is included in the appropriate cost line: the only amounts included for donated services are
those provided in a professional capacity. Gift Aid receivable is included in income when there is a valid declaration from the donor.
Activities for generating funds
Retail income, including income from donated goods, is accounted for when the sale takes place. Events registration fees are recognised
when the event takes place. Events merchandise is accounted for when the sale occurs.
Incoming resources from charitable activities
Grants are recognised when the Group is entitled to receipt. Income from intellectual property rights is recognised gross, before revenue
share payments to third parties, on completion of any contractual obligations.
Resources expended
Expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis. Support costs, which are not directly attributable to generating funds or charitable
activities, are allocated to those categories based on the appropriate combination of headcount, staff time and transaction volumes.
Irrecoverable VAT is included with the expense item to which it relates.
Costs of generating funds
The costs of fundraising trading do not include any valuation of donated goods sold.
Costs of charitable activities
A research grant is recognised when the Group formally notifies the recipient of the award following scientific review. The liability
is measured as the total of expected payments for the period to the next scientific review. Payments due after a scientific review are
disclosed as grant commitments. Grants to core funded Institutes are awarded and recognised on an annual basis; any termination
liabilities are recognised when a decision to cease the grant is made. Liabilities for awards where more than five years of expected
payments are provided at the outset are discounted to current value using a weighted average cost of capital.
Governance costs
These are the costs of providing strategic direction and providing public accountability.
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Negative goodwill
Negative goodwill arises when the aggregate fair values of a consolidated entity’s assets and liabilities exceed any acquisition cost,
and is amortised in the SOFA over 10 years.
Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are capitalised at cost, including purchase price and any costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its
intended use. The costs of laboratory refurbishments are written off as they are incurred. The Group only capitalises items costing
more than £5,000 for the Charity and £500 to £5,000 for its subsidiaries. Batches of items below those thresholds are capitalised where
they form part of one project and together cost more than £50,000. Software is only capitalised where its cost exceeds £50,000.
Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost of fixed assets on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives, as follows:
Freehold land and buildings
Leasehold properties
Freehold and leasehold improvements
Plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings
Retail fixtures and fittings

Not depreciated (land) or 25 years (buildings)
25 years, or lease period if shorter
25 years, or lease period if shorter
3 – 5 years
5 years

Investments
Listed investments are stated at market value. Unlisted investments are included at cost as an approximation to market value. The SOFA
includes realised gains and losses on investments sold in the year and unrealised gains and losses on revaluation of investments.
Programme-related investments are held at cost less any provision for diminution in value.
Impairment of negative goodwill, fixed assets and investments
Negative goodwill, fixed assets and investments are subject to review for impairment when there is an indication of a reduction in their
carrying value. Any impairment is recognised in the year in which it occurs.
Stock
Stock is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Stock does not include goods donated for sale in the Group’s charity shops.
Short-term deposits
Short-term deposits are current asset investments that are readily convertible into cash at or close to their carrying amount.
Fund accounting
Restricted funds can only be used for particular purposes specified by or agreed with the donor. Permanent endowment funds are
funds where the capital must be retained and invested. General funds may be used for any purpose within the Charity’s objects.
Pension costs
The current service cost of the Charity’s defined benefit pension scheme is charged to employee costs over the anticipated period
of employment; net pension finance income or costs are included immediately in employee costs; actuarial gains and losses are
recognised immediately on the face of the SOFA; and the scheme surplus or deficit is shown on the face of the balance sheet and
separately in reserves. The amounts charged to the SOFA for defined contribution pension schemes represent the contributions payable
in the period.
Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate at the time of the transaction. Foreign currency balances are translated
into sterling at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Resulting gains or losses are included in the SOFA.
Leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the SOFA evenly over the period of the lease.
Taxation
The charitable members of the Group are exempt from income and corporation taxes on income and gains to the extent that they are
applied for their charitable objects. The trading subsidiaries do not generally pay UK corporation tax because their policy is to pay taxable
profits to the Charity as Gift Aid. Foreign tax incurred by overseas subsidiaries is charged as it is incurred.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

2. Incoming resources from generated funds
a) Voluntary income
Group
2013
£m

Reclassified
Group
2012
£m

Legacies

142.5

136.5

Direct giving

108.5

103.1

Events

58.7

57.0

Partnerships and volunteer fundraising

39.7

33.0

Major giving and appeals

19.1

16.5

Donations at shops

3.4

3.2

Amortisation of negative goodwill (Note 12)

0.8

0.8

372.7

350.1

The estimated amount of legacies for which the Group has received notice of entitlement, but which has not been accrued in line with
policy was £22 million (2012: £24 million). At 31 March 2013, the Charity had an interest in 1,462 estates that are subject to a life interest
(2012: 1,409). Notes 2a and 4a have been reclassified to reflect a reorganisation of the Charity’s fundraising activities.
b) Activities for generating funds
Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Retail income (sale of donated, bought-in goods and commission on sales)

69.2

66.1

Events registrations and merchandise

16.1

14.2

Other

1.8

1.8

87.1

82.1

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

73.6

55.3

0.9

2.2

74.5

57.5

3. Incoming resources from charitable activities
Research
Cancer information and influencing
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4. Costs of generating funds
a) Costs of generating voluntary income
Group
2013
£m

Reclassified
Group
2012
£m

5.3

5.7

Direct giving

33.2

27.7

Events

22.8

22.0

Partnerships and volunteer fundraising

13.6

12.4

4.1

3.5

Legacies

Major giving and appeals

1.0

8.8

80.0

80.1

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Retail costs (including costs of bought-in goods)

54.8

54.0

Events

14.4

14.4

0.5

0.2

69.7

68.6

Supporter relationship programme

b) Costs of fundraising trading

Other goods sold

The total net contribution from fundraising activities, including retail, amounted to £306 million (2012: £284 million). Excluding retail,
the total net contribution was £291 million (2012: £271 million).

5. Costs of charitable activities

Research
Cancer information and influencing

Direct
costs
£m

Grant
costs
£m

Support
costs
£m

Group
2013
Total
£m

Group
2012
Total
£m

167.7

169.2

10.3

347.2

332.2

14.2

–

2.6

16.8

15.7

181.9

169.2

12.9

364.0

347.9

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

173.2

171.1

Research costs include a £13.2 million grant of assets to the University of Cambridge.

6. Grants
Grants provided in the year
Write-back of underused grants and other adjustments

(4.0)

(4.4)

169.2

166.7

An analysis of grant-funded research by host institution with details of the grants awarded during the year, forming part of these audited
financial statements, can be found on the Charity’s website at cruk.org/about-us/annual-report-and-accounts

cruk.org

30 Cancer Research UK | Financial Statements

Notes to the Accounts
continued

7. Governance costs
Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Strategy, Council and Committee costs

1.2

1.2

Internal audit

0.2

0.2

Auditors’ remuneration

0.1

0.1

1.5

1.5

8. Support costs
Support cost

Costs of
fundraising
trading
£m

Group
2013
£m

Reclassified
Group
2012
£m

Basis of split

Research
£m

A

3.9

1.9

9.5

2.2

17.5

15.6

A, B, C

3.4

0.2

1.5

0.7

5.8

6.8

Information technology
Corporate resources

Costs of
generating
voluntary
income
£m

Cancer
information
& influencing
£m

Human resources

A, B

1.9

0.3

1.3

1.3

4.8

5.6

General Counsel

A, D

0.9

0.2

0.6

0.5

2.2

2.4

E

0.2

–

0.1

0.1

0.4

(0.4)

10.3

2.6

13.0

4.8

30.7

30.0

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Pension finance charge/(credit)

A Headcount
B Time spent

C Transaction volumes
D Insurance premium share

E Employer pension contributions

Prior year support costs have been reclassified to reflect the impact of a change in allocation of property costs.

9. Net income/(expenditure) for the year
This is stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 13)

19.6

19.9

Loss on disposal of fixed assets (Note 13)

13.5

0.6

Amortisation of negative goodwill (Note 12)

(0.8)

(0.8)

18.3

19.0

– Vehicles and equipment

1.0

1.0

Rents receivable

(1.0)

(0.7)

Irrecoverable VAT

6.7

7.0

Auditors’ remuneration for external audit services

0.1

0.1

(27.6)

(24.4)

0.1

–

Rentals payable under operating leases:
– Land and buildings

Gift Aid income
Foreign exchange loss
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10. Incoming resources and net increase in funds – Charity only
The Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities is for the Group as a whole. The figures below are the equivalent figures for the
Charity only:

• Total incoming resources for the year were £472 million (2012: £441 million).
• Net increase in funds in the year totalled £16 million (2012: decrease of £7 million).

11. Employees and Trustees
a) Employees
Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Charity
2013
£m

Charity
2012
£m

107.8

107.3

90.3

90.2

9.5

9.4

8.1

7.9

12.7

12.7

10.6

11.0

130.0

129.4

109.0

109.1

Group
2013
No.

Group
2012
No.

Charity
2013
No.

Charity
2012
No.

Charitable activities

1,525

1,670

1,205

1,346

Fundraising

1,855

1,812

1,855

1,812

465

486

408

435

3,845

3,968

3,468

3,593

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension costs

The average number of employees, analysed by function, was:

Support services

In addition, over 3,100 scientists, technicians and other staff engaged in cancer research throughout the United Kingdom were supported
by grants made by the Group (2012: over 2,800).
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11. Employees and Trustees (continued)
The number of employees during the year, whose gross pay and benefits (excluding employer pension contributions and awards
to inventors) fell within the following bands, was:
Group
2013
No.

Group
2012
No.

£60,001 – £70,000

71

49

£70,001 – £80,000

32

36

£80,001 – £90,000

28

28

£90,001 – £100,000

23

13

£100,001 – £110,000

9

8

£110,001 – £120,000

3

8

£120,001 – £130,000

7

4

£130,001 – £140,000

5

4

£140,001 – £150,000

1

3

£150,001 – £160,000

4

2

£160,001 – £170,000

2

2

£170,001 – £180,000

2

2

£210,001 – £220,000

1

1

£220,001 – £230,000

1

–

189

160

Banding

In respect of employees in the above bandings, 102 accrued benefits under defined benefit pension schemes (2012: 96) and payments
to defined contributions schemes totalled £520,000 (2012: £390,000).
b) Trustees
No Trustee has received remuneration from the Group during the year (2012: none). Total expenses reimbursed to 12 Trustees amounted
to £21,688 (2012: £20,527 to 16 Trustees). This represents travel and subsistence incurred in attending meetings and events in their official
capacity. As permitted by the Articles of Association, the Trustees have the benefit of a qualifying third party indemnity provision as
defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. It was in force throughout the last financial year and is currently in force. The Charity
purchased and maintained throughout the year Trustees’ and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of itself and its Trustees.

12. Negative goodwill
Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Arising on consolidation of the Beatson Institute for Cancer Research
At 1 April 2012

(4.0)

(4.8)

Amortisation

0.8

0.8

At 31 March 2013

(3.2)

(4.0)

When the Beatson was first included in the Group accounts in June 2007, it had net assets of £7.8 million. This amount is being released
to income over 10 years. The balance of £3.2 million will be released over the next four years.
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13. Tangible fixed assets
a) Group
Freehold
land &
buildings
£m

Leasehold
properties
£m

Freehold &
leasehold
improvements
£m

Plant,
equipment,
fixtures &
fittings
£m

Assets in the
course of
construction
£m

Retail
fixtures
& fittings
£m

Total
£m

Cost
51.9

20.6

21.4

143.9

1.6

15.0

254.4

Additions

–

–

0.4

5.6

0.2

0.8

7.0

Transfers

–

–

1.4

0.1

(1.5)

–

–

At 1 April 2012

–

(13.8)

(2.4)

(19.4)

–

(4.7)

(40.3)

51.9

6.8

20.8

130.2

0.3

11.1

221.1

At 1 April 2012

17.7

3.8

13.6

111.8

–

10.9

157.8

Charge for the year

1.8

0.9

0.8

14.8

–

1.3

19.6

Disposals
At 31 March 2013
Accumulated depreciation

–

(3.5)

(2.3)

(16.3)

–

(4.7)

(26.8)

19.5

1.2

12.1

110.3

–

7.5

150.6

At 31 March 2013

32.4

5.6

8.7

19.9

0.3

3.6

70.5

At 1 April 2012

34.2

16.8

7.8

32.1

1.6

4.1

96.6

Disposals
At 31 March 2013
Net Book Values

The Charity granted an option to the Group’s associate, The Francis Crick Institute, on 16 April 2012 for the right to acquire a long
leasehold interest in a freehold building owned by the Charity with a net book value of £13.7 million at a consideration in excess of its
book value. The option can be taken at any time up to 30 June 2015.
Group fixed assets with a net book value of £13.2 million located at the Cambridge Research Institute were granted to the University
of Cambridge at nil cost on 1 January 2013 following a transfer of the operations to the University. The Institute continues to be grant
funded by the Group and is now known as The Cancer Research UK Cambridge Institute.
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13. Tangible fixed assets (continued)
b) Charity
Freehold
land &
buildings
£m

Leasehold
properties
£m

Freehold &
leasehold
improvements
£m

Plant,
equipment,
fixtures &
fittings
£m

Assets in the
course of
construction
£m

Retail
fixtures
& fittings
£m

Total
£m

Cost
51.9

19.1

14.8

126.7

0.2

14.7

227.4

Additions

–

–

–

4.5

0.2

0.7

5.4

Transfers

–

–

–

0.1

(0.1)

–

–

At 1 April 2012

–

(13.7)

(2.4)

(19.5)

–

(4.6)

(40.2)

51.9

5.4

12.4

111.8

0.3

10.8

192.6

At 1 April 2012

17.7

3.6

13.2

103.1

–

10.8

148.4

Charge for the year

1.8

0.7

0.6

12.4

–

1.3

16.8

Disposals
At 31 March 2013
Accumulated depreciation

–

(3.5)

(2.3)

(16.2)

–

(4.7)

(26.7)

19.5

0.8

11.5

99.3

–

7.4

138.5

At 31 March 2013

32.4

4.6

0.9

12.5

0.3

3.4

54.1

At 1 April 2012

34.2

15.5

1.6

23.6

0.2

3.9

79.0

Disposals
At 31 March 2013
Net Book Values

35

Annual Report and Accounts 2012/13

14. Investments
Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Charity
2013
£m

Charity
2012
£m

At market value
UK listed equity investments
UK fixed and variable interest stocks
UK cash investments

1.5

1.6

0.1

0.1

41.9

43.5

39.5

42.6

0.6

17.5

0.3

15.0

UK investment properties

1.9

1.9

1.9

1.9

Investments in UK unlisted companies

0.4

0.4

–

–

–

–

0.2

0.2

46.3

64.9

42.0

59.8

Overseas fixed and variable interest stocks

0.8

0.8

–

–

Total fixed asset investments

47.1

65.7

42.0

59.8

UK cash investments

44.5

24.2

44.5

24.2

UK term bank deposits

34.5

31.0

34.5

31.0

Investment in subsidiaries (Note 16)
Total UK investments

Total current asset investments
Total investments

79.0

55.2

79.0

55.2

126.1

120.9

121.0

115.0

No investment represented 5% or more of the portfolio by market value in the Group and Charity (2012: none). Investment properties
consist of land and property bequeathed to the Charity and its predecessor charities. The intention of the Trustees is to realise these
investments at a time that will maximise their value to the Charity. In view of the number of investment properties held, separate details of
each valuation are not reported. The Charity’s subsidiary, Cancer Research Technology Ltd, has an interest in two associates, Acublate Ltd
and Senectus Therapeutics Ltd, which are both involved in technology development. It has a shareholding of 32% and 33% respectively.
The total investment in these associates was £40,000 at 31 March 2013.
Group
2013
£m

Charity
2013
£m

120.9

115.0

Additions

72.0

69.9

Disposal proceeds

(70.5)

(69.9)

3.7

5.4

Transfers out to short-term deposits

(0.5)

–

Net realised investment (losses)/gains

(0.2)

1.0

0.7

(0.4)

126.1

121.0

Movements
At 1 April 2012

Net movement in cash

Net unrealised investment gains/(losses)
At 31 March 2013

The historical cost of Group and Charity investments at 31 March 2013 was £123 million (2012: £118 million) and £118 million
(2012: £112 million) respectively.
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15. Programme-related investments – The Francis Crick Institute
Group and
Charity
2013
£m

Group and
Charity
2012
£m

Land

18.5

18.5

Loan

1.3

–

Investment in associate

36.1

26.4

Total programme-related investments

55.9

44.9

Group
2013
£m

Charity
2013
£m

44.9

44.9

New loan issued

1.3

1.3

New shares issued

9.5

9.5

–

0.2

Gain on associate

0.2

–

At 31 March 2013

55.9

55.9

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

31.5

23.2

Movements
At 1 April 2012

Movement on impairment

Share of net assets
The Group’s 16.0% share (2012: 22.2%) of:
Fixed assets
Current assets
Gross assets
Gross liabilities

8.3

7.3

39.8

30.5

(3.7)

(4.1)

36.1

26.4
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Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Total incoming resources

0.5

0.2

Total resources expended

(1.1)

(0.9)

Share of net result
The Group’s 16.0% share (2012: 22.2%) of:

Net outgoing resources

(0.6)

(0.7)

Other movements on associate interest

0.8

0.5

Gain/(loss) on associate

0.2

(0.2)

New shares issued

9.5

22.0

Net movement in funds

9.7

21.8

At 31 March 2013, the Charity held 36,527,631 out of a total of 228,552,421 ordinary shares issued by The Francis Crick Institute (The Crick),
9,517,978 of which were issued to the Charity at par during the year to help fund the ongoing construction of the Institute building. The
Charity jointly owns with the other founder partners land on which the Institute building is being constructed. The total acquisition cost
of the land was £88 million. A lease of the land was granted to The Crick in May 2012 for a 55-year term at a peppercorn rent. The terms
of the lease require the site to be used for The Crick’s charitable objects and the Group’s intention is to hold the land for this purpose. As
at 31 March 2013, related party balances with The Crick comprised a £505,000 trading balance due from the Charity (2012: £549,000)
and a £1.3 million loan (2012: £nil). The Charity also seconded staff to The Crick, for which it obtained reimbursement of £14,000 in the
year (2012: £46,000). The share of net assets and net result above have been derived from the unaudited draft accounts of The Francis
Crick Institute Ltd.

16. Investments in subsidiaries
Name

Control

Beatson Technology Ltd

D

Cancer Research Campaign (Jersey Trust Fund)

D

Charity
interest

Other Group
company
interest

Activities

100%

Technology development

100%

Charitable

Cancer Research Technology Inc

SC

Cancer Research Technology Ltd

SC

100%

Technology development

Cancer Research UK Guernsey Ltd

SC

100%

Dormant

Cancer Research UK Pension Trustee Ltd

SC

100%

Dormant

Cancer Research UK Trading Ltd

SC

100%

Income generation

Cancer Research Ventures Ltd

SC

Gibb Research Fellowship Endowment Fund
Imperial Cancer Research Fund
Imperial Cancer Research Technology Ltd

100%

100%

D

100%

D

100%

SC

Technology development

Dormant
Charitable
Charitable

100%

Dormant

North of England Cancer Research Campaign

D

100%

Dormant

The Beatson Institute for Cancer Research

D

100%

Charitable

The Cancer Research Campaign

D

100%

Charitable

The Nuffield Research Fellowship

D

100%

Charitable

War on Cancer

D

100%

Charitable

Control: D = deemed, SC = share capital
The Beatson Institute for Cancer Research and Beatson Technology Ltd are incorporated in Scotland. Cancer Research Campaign (Jersey
Trust Fund) is established in Jersey. Cancer Research UK Guernsey Ltd is incorporated in Guernsey. Cancer Research Technology Inc is
incorporated in the state of Delaware in the United States of America. All other entities are incorporated or registered in England and Wales.
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16. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
The summarised financial information of the subsidiary undertakings that are material to the Group is provided below:
a) Trading subsidiaries – activities for generating funds
Cancer Research UK
Trading Ltd
2013
£m

2012
£m

Turnover

23.7

21.8

Cost of sales

(19.1)

(19.9)

Profit on ordinary activities before Gift Aid and taxation

4.6

1.9

Gift Aid payable to Cancer Research UK

(4.6)

(1.9)

–

–

Retained profit for the year
Assets

7.9

5.4

Liabilities

(7.9)

(5.4)

–

–

Net assets
b) Trading subsidiaries – activities in furtherance of the Group’s objects

Cancer Research
Technology Ltd
2013
£m

2012
£m

Turnover

49.7

36.7

Cost of sales

(41.3)

(32.5)

Profit on ordinary activities before Gift Aid and taxation

8.4

4.2

Gift Aid payable to Cancer Research UK

(7.4)

(2.2)

Retained profit for the year

1.0

2.0

Assets
Liabilities
Net assets

49.2

33.5

(36.0)

(21.3)

13.2

12.2
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c) Charitable subsidiaries
The Beatson Institute
for Cancer Research

The Gibb Research
Fellowship Endowment Fund

2013
£m

2012
£m

2013
£m

2012
£m

Total incoming resources

20.2

20.9

0.1

0.1

Total charitable expenditure

(21.0)

(19.0)

(0.2)

(0.1)

(0.8)

1.9

(0.1)

–

Total resources (expended)/generated

–

–

0.2

0.1

Net movement in funds

(0.8)

1.9

0.1

0.1

Assets

25.4

25.2

4.6

4.9

(5.1)

(4.1)

(0.6)

(1.0)

20.3

21.1

4.0

3.9

Net gains on investments

Liabilities
Net assets

Imperial Cancer
Research Fund

The Cancer
Research Campaign

2013
£m

2012
£m

2013
£m

2012
£m

Total incoming resources

26.6

31.6

23.1

25.7

Transfer of funds to Cancer Research UK

(26.6)

(31.6)

(23.1)

(25.7)

Net movement in funds

–

–

–

–

Net assets

–

–

–

–

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Charity
2013
£m

Charity
2012
£m

9.2

4.6

4.5

3.1

17. Debtors
Trade debtors
Amounts owed by Group undertakings
Taxation recoverable
Other debtors

–

–

13.4

4.0

16.7

12.9

16.3

12.9

1.7

1.7

1.3

1.5

Prepayments

12.9

9.9

12.0

9.2

Accrued legacy income

80.8

75.9

80.8

75.9

Other accrued income

24.2

15.1

5.1

4.0

145.5

120.1

133.4

110.6

Some accrued legacy income may be received after more than one year, but this has not been estimated due to uncertainty in the
timing of the receipt of such income. The Charity has made a loan to its trading subsidiary company Cancer Research Technology Ltd
(CRT) amounting to £1 million. The loan is secured on the assets of CRT, excluding intellectual property, and attracts interest at base rate
plus 1%. The amount outstanding is repayable in full on 31 March 2015 or on 13 calendar months’ notice from the Charity. Other amounts
due after more than one year are £0.7 million of Home Loan Scheme debtors (2012: £0.8 million).
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18. Creditors
a) Amounts falling due within one year

Research grants, life chairs and fellowships
Trade creditors

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Charity
2013
£m

Charity
2012
£m

129.2

136.0

128.9

135.5

11.8

12.0

9.8

8.8

–

–

21.9

18.6

Tax and social security creditors

4.4

4.1

3.8

4.0

Other creditors

4.1

1.7

2.8

1.5

32.6

27.8

12.2

15.4

Amounts owed to Group undertakings

Accruals
Deferred income

15.3

20.0

10.1

16.5

197.4

201.6

189.5

200.3

During the year, £9.2 million of deferred grants income was released and £5.6 million of grant income was deferred.
b) Amounts falling due after more than one year

Research grants, life chairs and fellowships
Accruals

Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Charity
2013
£m

Charity
2012
£m

55.1

57.2

55.9

56.9

7.5

–

7.5

–

62.6

57.2

63.4

56.9

2017
£m

2018
onwards
£m

The long-term proportion of an accrual has been recognised as long-term this year for £7.5 million.
c) Grants creditors and commitments
Amounts due for payment in the year to 31 March
Total
£m

2014
£m

2015
£m

Creditors

184.3

129.2

35.0

15.1

3.7

1.3

Commitments (not included in the accounts)

193.1

47.1

55.4

38.9

32.9

18.8

Group balance at 31 March 2013

2016
£m

Amounts for awards where more than five years of expected payments are provided at the outset have been discounted using a weighted
average cost of capital of between 1.6% and 4.0% (2012: between 2.46% and 4.29%).

19. Provisions for liabilities and charges
Properties
£m

Other
£m

Group
£m

Charity
£m

At 1 April 2012

4.3

2.6

6.9

6.8

Charged to the SOFA

0.1

–

0.1

–

Used during the year

(1.4)

(2.1)

(3.5)

(3.3)

At 31 March 2013

3.0

0.5

3.5

3.5

The properties provisions comprises net rental costs of vacant offices and shops until they are reasonably expected to be sublet or
otherwise disposed of and dilapidation costs of offices and shops where the planned exit from the property has been confirmed before
the year-end date.
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20. Pensions
Cancer Research UK operates a defined benefit pension scheme, a defined contribution pension scheme, and participates in three other
schemes. All of these schemes are contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P).
a) Defined benefit scheme – Cancer Research UK Pension Scheme
This scheme is closed to new members. During the year the Group’s employer contribution rates as a percentage of members’ salaries
ranged from 17.1% to 26.1%. In addition the Group contributed 2.4% of salaries for ‘Stakeholder members’ and 0.2% of salaries for
members covered for lump sum death in service benefits only. The Group expects to pay contributions at 20.0% to 29.0% for the year
to 31 March 2014.
Principal actuarial assumptions
The tables below state the FRS17 actuarial assumptions upon which the valuation of the scheme was based.
Valuation at 31 March
2013

2012

Rate of increase in salaries (excluding promotional scale)

3.4%

3.9%

Rate of increase to pensions in payment

3.3%

3.3%

Rate used to discount scheme liabilities

4.4%

5.1%

Rate of future price inflation – RPI

3.5%

3.4%

Rate of future price inflation – CPI

3.0%

2.4%

Expected return on scheme assets

5.3%

5.4%

The demographic assumptions are the same as those adopted for the last actuarial funding valuation. To develop the expected longterm rate of return on assets assumption, the Charity considered the current level of expected returns on risk free investments (primarily
government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is invested and
the expectations for future returns on each asset class. The expected return for each asset class was then weighted based on the
benchmark asset allocation at 31 March 2013 to develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumptions for the portfolio.
The life expectancies used to determine benefit obligations are as follows:
31 March 2013

31 March 2012

Male

Female

Male

Female

Member aged 65 (current life expectancy)

23.6

25.9

22.4

24.6

Member aged 45 (life expectancy at 65)

25.8

28.3

24.1

26.6
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20. Pensions (continued)
Movements in the SOFA
2013
£m

2012
£m

Current service cost

9.1

9.7

Past service cost

0.1

–

Curtailment gain

(0.7)

–

Interest cost on scheme liabilities

20.9

20.9

Expected return on assets in the scheme

(20.5)

(21.3)

Net finance charge/(credit)

0.4

(0.4)

Total pension cost recognised in the SOFA

8.9

9.3

Actuarial losses recognised in the SOFA

(7.5)

(0.2)

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the SOFA since 1 April 2004 is an £8.5 million loss (2012: £1.0 million loss).
Movement in scheme assets, liabilities and surplus/deficit

At 1 April 2012
Current service cost charged to the SOFA
Expected return on scheme assets

Fair value
of assets
£m

Present
value of
(liabilities)
£m

Surplus/
(deficit)
£m

397.7

(403.7)

(6.0)

–

(9.1)

(9.1)

20.5

–

20.5

–

(20.9)

(20.9)

Net finance (credit)/charge

20.5

(20.9)

(0.4)

Actuarial gains/(losses) in the year

32.8

(40.3)

(7.5)

Employer contributions paid

18.0

–

18.0

Contributions by participants

0.2

(0.2)

–

Benefits paid to participants

(12.7)

12.7

–

–

0.7

0.7

456.5

(460.8)

(4.3)

Interest cost

Curtailments
At 31 March 2013

The actual return on scheme assets for the year was a gain of £53.3 million (2012: £33.5 million gain). Employer contributions include
deficit contributions of £8 million (2012: £8 million).
The analysis of scheme assets at the balance sheet date was as follows:
Fair value of assets
2013
£m

2012
£m

Equities

242.0

202.8

Bonds

178.0

159.1

31.9

31.8

4.6

4.0

456.5

397.7

Property
Cash
Total assets
None of the scheme’s assets are invested in any property or other assets currently used by the Group.
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Five-year history of experience adjustments
2013
£m

2012
£m

2011
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m

32.8

12.2

5.5

57.3

(63.5)

7%

3%

2%

18%

(26%)

(29.2)

–

–

(13.6)

1.3

(6%)

0%

0%

(4%)

1%

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

Total fair value of scheme assets

456.5

397.7

359.6

324.4

247.1

Present value of scheme liabilities

(460.8)

(403.7)

(375.1)

(360.9)

(251.0)

(4.3)

(6.0)

(15.5)

(36.5)

(3.9)

Actual return less expected return on assets
Percentage of scheme assets
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities
Percentage of scheme liabilities

Net pension liability

(b) Defined contribution scheme – Cancer Research UK Retirement Plan
New employees are entitled to join this scheme. Employer contributions at the year-end varied, depending on the employee’s
own contributions.
(c) Other pension schemes accounted for as defined contribution schemes
The following multi-employer schemes are accounted for as defined contribution schemes as the Group is unable to identify its share
of the underlying assets and liabilities on a reasonable and consistent basis.
(i) NHS Pension Scheme
A statutory unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme. Three employees were members at 31 March 2013 (2012: 13).
(ii) Scottish NHS Pension Scheme
A statutory unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme. 24 employees were members at 31 March 2013 (2012: 28).
(iii) Universities Superannuation Scheme
An externally funded multi-employer defined benefit scheme. 170 employees were members at 31 March 2013 (2012: 166). At the latest
actuarial valuation of the scheme at 31 March 2011, the assets were sufficient to cover 92% of the benefits that had accrued to members.
The employer contribution rates at the year end and the employer’s total pension contributions made during the financial year in respect
of these schemes were as follows:

Cancer Research UK Retirement Plan
NHS Pension Scheme
Scottish NHS Pension Scheme
Universities Superannuation Scheme
Defined contribution pension charge in the SOFA

2013
Rate

2013
£m

2012
Rate

2012
£m

1–16%

2.6

1–16%

2.4

14%

0.1

14%

–

13.5%

0.1

13.5%

0.1

16%

1.1

16%

0.9

3.9

Contributions that were outstanding at the year-end in respect of these schemes amounted to £0.3 million (2012: £0.3 million).
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21. Operating leases
The Group and Charity are committed to payments in the year to 31 March 2014 under non-cancellable operating leases, which expire
as follows:
Group
2013
£m

Group
2012
£m

Charity
2013
£m

Charity
2012
£m

Land and buildings
Within one year

1.7

1.3

1.2

1.0

Between one and five years

5.0

6.4

4.7

6.4

After five years

8.6

9.9

8.6

9.9

15.3

17.6

14.5

17.3

Total
Vehicles and equipment
Within one year

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

Between one and five years

0.4

1.5

0.4

1.5

Total

0.5

1.6

0.5

1.6

22. Guarantees
The Charity is party to a Group registration for VAT purposes. As the representative member, the Charity is jointly and severally liable
for any VAT liabilities of the subsidiary companies that are part of the same VAT registration.

23. Commitments
The Charity has a share in the capital commitments of The Francis Crick Institute at 31 March 2013 amounting to £53.7 million (2012:
£19.5 million). In total the Charity expects to contribute £160 million towards the cost of the project, of which £56 million has been
contributed at 31 March 2013 (2012: £45 million) as per Note 15. Cancer Research Technology Ltd has a commitment to contribute up
to £12.0 million (2012: £12.3 million) of loan capital to the CRT Pioneer Fund over the next four years. There are no other future capital
commitments (2012: £1.6 million). Grant commitments are disclosed in Note 18c.
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24. Restricted and endowment funds
Balance at
31 March
2013
£m

Balance at
1 April
2012
£m

Incoming
resources
£m

The Francis Crick Institute appeal

0.8

12.8

–

–

(12.6)

1.0

Grants for specific projects

0.2

8.9

(9.1)

–

–

–

–

8.8

(6.4)

–

–

2.4

Resources
expended
£m

Net
investment
gains
£m

Transfers
between
funds
£m

Restricted funds
Restricted funds for research

Tesco early diagnosis
Stand Up To Cancer

–

8.5

(1.1)

–

–

7.4

Children’s cancer research

–

3.6

(3.6)

–

–

–

Breast cancer research

–

1.7

(1.7)

–

–

–

Basic research

–

1.5

(1.5)

–

–

–

Catalyst club
Manchester capital appeal
International Cancer Genome Consortium

–

1.3

(1.3)

–

–

–

0.6

1.3

–

–

–

1.9

–

1.2

(1.2)

–

–

–

(0.9)

1.0

(0.4)

–

–

(0.3)

Research in Scotland

–

1.0

(1.0)

–

–

–

Bowel cancer research

–

0.7

(0.7)

–

–

–

Marie Keating awareness units

–

0.5

(0.5)

–

–

–

Bobby Moore Fund

Other restricted funds
Intangible income

–

1.5

(1.5)

–

–

–

Sunsmart

–

0.6

(0.6)

–

–

–

NCRI

–

0.6

(0.6)

–

–

–

Sundry other funds

0.3

14.4

(13.2)

–

–

1.5

Total restricted funds – Charity

1.0

69.9

(44.4)

–

(12.6)

13.9

The Beatson Institute for Cancer Research

17.1

4.1

(21.0)

–

16.9

17.1

–

–

(0.2)

–

0.2

–

0.1

–

–

–

–

0.1

18.2

74.0

(65.6)

–

4.5

31.1

Gibb Research Fellowship Endowment Fund

3.9

0.1

–

0.2

(0.2)

4.0

Total endowment funds – Group

3.9

0.1

–

0.2

(0.2)

4.0

22.1

74.1

(65.6)

0.2

4.3

35.1

Gibb Research Fellowship Endowment Fund
The Nuffield Research Fellowship
Total restricted funds – Group
Permanent endowment funds

Total – Group

The net assets of the Beatson Institute for Cancer Research at 31 March 2013 of £20.3 million (Note 16c) are offset by the negative
goodwill in the balance sheet of £3.2 million (Note 12). Transfers in from general funds of £8.1 million comprise £16.9 million of grants
awarded to the Beatson, less £12.6 million application of funds to programme-related investments in The Francis Crick Institute.
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24. Restricted and endowment funds (continued)
Fund

Purpose and restriction in use

The Francis Crick Institute appeal

Construction and establishment of The Francis Crick Institute

Grants for specific projects

Grants awarded for specific research projects

Tesco early diagnosis

Specific early diagnosis research projects

Stand Up To Cancer

New clinical trial projects and a transatlantic fund

Children’s cancer research

Research relating to cancers affecting children and young people

Breast cancer research

Research relating to breast cancer

Basic research

Laboratory research into normal and cancerous cells

Catalyst club

Stratified Medicine and the oesophageal arm of the ICGC

Manchester capital appeal

Construction and establishment of the Manchester Cancer Research Centre

International Cancer Genome Consortium

The prostate arm of the ICGC

Bobby Moore Fund

Specific bowel cancer research and awareness projects

Research in Scotland

Research in Scotland

Bowel cancer research

Research relating to bowel cancer

Marie Keating awareness units

Mobile walk-in vehicles to raise awareness of cancer causes

Intangible income

Donations in kind received for specific purposes

Sunsmart

Information on skin cancer and sun protection

NCRI

National Cancer Research Institute

Sundry other funds

Core activities such as research, patient and health information

The Beatson Institute for Cancer Research

Research and investigation into the causes, mechanisms and treatment of cancer

Gibb Research Fellowship Endowment Fund

Fellowships and/or studentships for cancer research

The Nuffield Research Fellowship

Research and study into radiobiology
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25. Unrestricted funds
a) Group
General
funds
£m

Pension
surplus/
(deficit)
£m

Total
unrestricted
funds
£m

165.1

(6.0)

159.1

21.5

(8.8)

12.7

Transfers between funds

(22.3)

18.0

(4.3)

Net gains on investments

0.3

–

0.3

Net gain on associate

0.2

–

0.2

Funds/(deficit) at 1 April 2012
Net incoming/(outgoing) resources before transfers

Actuarial losses on pensions
Funds at 31 March 2013

–

(7.5)

(7.5)

164.8

(4.3)

160.5

Included within Group general funds are the following amounts: revaluation reserve relating to cumulative net unrealised gains
on revalued investments of £3 million (2012: £2 million gains); and undistributed profits from trading subsidiaries of £13 million
(2012: £12 million).
b) Charity
General
funds
£m

Pension
surplus/
(deficit)
£m

Total
unrestricted
funds
£m

149.8

(6.0)

143.8

Net incoming/(outgoing) resources before transfers

5.6

(8.8)

(3.2)

Transfers between funds

(5.4)

18.0

12.6

Net gains on investments

0.7

–

0.7

–

(7.5)

(7.5)

150.7

(4.3)

146.4

Funds/(deficit) at 1 April 2012

Actuarial losses on pensions
Funds at 31 March 2013
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26. Analysis of net assets between funds
a) Group
General
funds
£m

Pension
fund
£m

–

–

(3.2)

Tangible fixed assets

55.1

–

15.4

–

70.5

Investments

98.2

–

0.2

4.6

103.0

153.3

–

12.4

4.6

170.3

Current assets

269.4

–

23.7

–

293.1

Current and long-term liabilities and provisions

(257.9)

–

(5.0)

(0.6)

(263.5)

–

(4.3)

–

–

(4.3)

164.8

(4.3)

31.1

4.0

195.6

Pension
fund
£m

Restricted
funds
£m

Total
£m

Restricted
funds
£m

Endowment
funds
£m

Total
£m

Fixed assets
Negative goodwill

Pension deficit
Total net assets/(liabilities)

–

(3.2)

b) Charity
General
funds
£m

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets

54.1

–

–

54.1

Investments

97.9

–

–

97.9

152.0

–

–

152.0

254.7

–

14.3

269.0

(256.0)

–

(0.4)

(256.4)

Current assets
Current and long-term liabilities and provisions
Pension deficit
Total net assets/(liabilities)

–

(4.3)

–

(4.3)

150.7

(4.3)

13.9

160.3
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27. Funding committee members receiving grants
Listed below are scientists who both served on grant-making committees and led research projects that received grant funding from the
Group during the year. They are set out below by institution of employment.
Cardiff University

A Clarke

Gray Institute for Radiation Oncology and Biology

A Kiltie

Imperial College London

E Aboagye*, C Coombes

Institute of Cancer Research

J D Bono, R Eeles*, E Hall, K Harrington, M Leach*, C Marshall

King’s College London

T Ng*, J Spicer

Medical Research Council Centre – Cambridge

M Bienz

Newcastle University

R Plummer

Queen Mary, University of London

N Lemoine, P Sasieni, B Vanhaesebroeck*

University College London

D Sebag-Montefiore, J Wardle,

University of Birmingham

D Morton

University of Bristol

R Martin

University of Cambridge

D Easton*, R Fitzgerald, T Green, J Pines*

University of Dundee

I Näthke

University of Edinburgh

D Cameron, M Frame*

University of Glasgow

T Holyoake

University of Leeds

G Velikova

University of Leicester

W Steward

University of Liverpool

G Middleton, A Pettitt

University of Manchester

M Ranson

University of Nottingham

N Russell

University of Southampton

M Glennie, P Johnson, C Ottensmeie

University of St Andrews

S Herrington

* Scientists who headed projects that received grant awards in excess of £1 million in the year.
Scientists who serve on the Group’s grant-making committees may not participate in any decisions that relate to funding either of
research projects where they have an interest or of their institutions. Professor Peter Johnson, Chief Clinician, is a member of both the
Charity’s Executive and Scientific Executive Boards. Professor Nic Jones, Chief Scientist, is a member of both the Charity’s Executive and
Scientific Executive Boards and is also a fellow of the Gibb Research Fellowship Endowment Fund.
The group paid £72,000 in the year under a grant to Professor Alan Clarke of Cardiff University for a project on which Professor Adrian
Bird, a Trustee, is a co-investigator.
Professor Chris Marshall, a Trustee of the Imperial Cancer Research Fund, has received a Fellowship grant from The Gibb Research
Fellowship Endowment Fund, totalling £144,000 during the year. He has also received grant funding from Cancer Research UK of
£1.9 million during the year.

28. Related party transactions
The Group has taken advantage of the exemption available under FRS8 ‘Related Party Transactions’ that permits non-disclosure of
transactions with wholly-owned Group undertakings that are eliminated on consolidation. Related party disclosures concerning the
associate are set out in Notes 13 and 15. Related party disclosures concerning grant awards are shown in Note 27. Such transactions
are conducted on an arm’s length basis. The Chairman of Cancer Research Technology Ltd (CRT) was also a Director of BTG Plc until
30 September 2012, a specialty pharmaceuticals company from which CRT received a share of BTG’s royalties for the sale of Zytiga,
a drug licensed by CRT. During the year, the amount receivable totalled £26 million (2012: £11 million).
The Chief Executive of the Charity is also a Trustee of The Francis Crick Institute and of the Institute for Cancer Research.
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Legal and administrative details

Financial statements
The financial statements comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) – Accounting
and Reporting by Charities as revised in 2005, the Charities Act 2011, the Companies Act (2006), the
Charities and Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006,
as amended.
Charity status
The Charity has a maximum permitted membership of 100. There are currently 89 Members, of which
10 are Trustees (see pages 16 and 17). Each Member guarantees to contribute up to one pound sterling
(£1) to the Charity’s debts, liabilities and costs in the event of the Charity being wound up and for one
year after ceasing to be a Member.
Charity objects
The Charity’s objects are to protect and promote the health of the public in particular by research into
the nature, causes, diagnosis, prevention, treatment and cure of all forms of cancer, including the
development of findings of research into the practical applications for the prevention, treatment and
cure of cancer and, in furtherance of that primary object, to provide information and raise public
understanding of such matters.
Governing document
Cancer Research UK is governed by its Articles of Association. Cancer Research UK may operate
under the following names: Cancer Research UK Scotland, Cancer Research UK Cymru, Cancer
Research UK Jersey, Cancer Research UK Guernsey and Cancer Research Northern Ireland.
Company number
4325234 in England and Wales
5713F in Isle of Man
Charity number
1089464 in England and Wales
SC041666 in Scotland
1103 in Isle of Man
Registered office
Angel Building, 407 St John Street, London EC1V 4AD
Patron
Her Majesty The Queen
Joint Presidents
HRH The Duke of Gloucester, KG, GCVO
HRH Princess Alexandra the Hon. Lady Ogilvy, KG, GCVO
Company Secretary
Gill Marcus LLB (Hons) Barrister ACIS
Bankers
NatWest Bank Plc, Aldwych Branch, Connaught House,
65 Aldwych, London WC2B 4EJ
Chartered accountants and statutory auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 7 More London Riverside, London SE1 2RT
Solicitors
Withers LLP, 16 Old Bailey, London EC4M 7EG
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Cancer Research UK

how you can help

Visit our website

Take part

For everything there is to know about Cancer
Research UK, the work we do, and how you can
support us.

Discover all the different ways you can get involved with
fundraising and volunteering.

www.cruk.org

Ask us questions or tell us what you think
If you have a question or a comment about our work,
we’d love to hear from you.
Call our Supporter Services team on 0300 123 1861
or send us a message through our website.

supportus.cancerresearchuk.org

Make a donation
Regular donations can make a real difference to helping
us beat cancer.
Please call 0800 917 1602 to donate or visit our website.
supportus.cancerresearchuk.org/donate

Cancer – prevention,
treatment and care
Get reliable information about cancer
If you’re looking for information about cancer that’s
up-to-date and easy to understand, visit our
CancerHelp UK website. You can find out about
cancer trials and research here too.
cruk.org/cancer-help

Speak to a specialist nurse
We have a team of specialist cancer nurses who can
answer your questions in confidence.
Call free on 0808 800 4040, Monday to Friday,
9am to 5pm, or email using the contact form on
CancerHelp UK.

Talk to others affected by cancer
Our online discussion forum, Cancer Chat, is your
space to talk to other people affected by cancer,
share experiences and find information.
cancerchat.org.uk
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